

Prospect Management System *Application Design* Demo Guide

Revised 29 July, 2001

Aims of the Application Design Demo

The Prospect Management System *Application Design* Demo is designed to demonstrate the ease with which applications designed in APPX can be maintained and modified to accommodate changing business requirements. The application featured throughout the Demo is the Prospect Management System.

Assumed Knowledge

A familiarity with the Prospect Management System demo application is assumed. If you have not already run the Prospect Management System *Runtime* Demo, you should do so before running the Prospect Management System *Application Design* Demo.

A working knowledge of a Windows environment, the ability to launch applications from Explorer and to manipulate the desktop and its menus is assumed.

Please direct all comments and questions relating to this demo to:

info@appx.com

This demo guide may be reproduced in electronic or printed form provided the document is reproduced in its entirety without change.

Copyright 2001 APPX Software, Inc.

APPX Software, Inc. 11363 San Jose Blvd., Suite 301 Jacksonville, FL 32223

Phone: 1-904-880-5560 FAX: 1-904-880-6635

Table of Contents:

Introduction	1
Getting Started	2
Navigating the System	4
The Demo Company	8
The Prospect Management System Demo Application	9
Application Design – An Overview	10
How APPX Speeds and Simplifies Development	11
Running APPX Application Design	12
1.0 Exercise 1 – Change the Length of a Field	14
1.1 A Quick Look at a Domain	15
1.2 The Domains Cross-Reference Utility	20
1.3 Changing the Definition of a Domain	
1.4 Restructuring Existing Data Files	
1.5 Checking Processes for Item Overlap	
1.6 Testing Your Changes	
1.7 Exercise 1 – Summary	
2.0 Exercise 2 - Adding New Fields to an Existing File	
2.1 Adding a TOKEN Field to a File	
2.2 Adding an ALPHA Field to a File	
2.3 Adding a NUMERIC Field to a File	45
2.4 Processing the Data Dictionary	46
2.5 Restructuring Data Files	47
2.6 Exercise 2 – Summary	
3.0 Exercise 3 - Designing and Implementing a New Input Process	
3.1 Design a New Input Process	
3.2 Adding an Optional Process	
4.0 Exercise 4 - Creating a New Report	73
4.1 Using the Standard Output Utility to Generate a Report	74
4.2 Reviewing the Report JOB Which Was Generated	
4.3 Running the Report Which Was Generated	
4.4 Add the Report to an Existing Process	
Conclusion – Application Design Demo	

Table of Figures:

Figure 1 – The APPX Utility Menu	1
Figure 2 – The APPX Client Login Dialog Box	2
Figure 3 – The APPX Demo Server	3
Figure 4 – The Print Setup Dialog Box	4
Figure 5 – The Print Setup Dialog Box	5
Figure 6 – The APPX Toolbar	6
Figure 7 – Dazzle's Prospect Management System	8
Figure 8 – APPX Application Design screen.	12
Figure E1.1 – Database Management Menu	15
Figure E1.2 – Scrolling List of Domains	16
Figure E1.3 – The PROSPECT NO Domain	17
Figure E1.4 – The Definition of the PROSPECT NO Domain	18
Figure E1.5 – Additional Attributes for the PROSPECT NO Domain	19
Figure E1.6 – Field Context	20
Figure E1.7 – Cross-Reference for Domains	21
Figure E1.8 – Cross Reference Options	22
Figure E1.9 – Cross-Reference Results	23
Figure E1.10 – Field Context	24
Figure E1.11 – Data Dictionary Entry for a Field	25
Figure E1.12 – Field Definition Based on a Domain	26
Figure E1.13 – Exit confirmation	27
Figure E1.14 – Modified PROSPECT NO Domain Detail Screen	28
Figure E1.15 – Processing the APPX Data Dictionary	29
Figure E1.16 – Fields in the ACTIVITY File	30
Figure E1.17 – Database Management Screen Before Selecting Files	31
Figure E1.18 – Database Management Screen After Selecting Files	32
Figure E1.19 – Restructure Files Status Screen	33
Figure E1.20 – Check Images for Item Overlap Options	
Figure E1.21 – Item Overlan Status	
Figure E2 1 – Fields in the PROSPECT File	37
Figure E2.2 – Adding a New Field to a File	38
Figure E2.3 – Selecting the Field Type for a Field	39
Figure E2.4 – Entering the Field Length	40
Figure E2.5 – Entering Other Field Snecifications	41
Figure E2.6 – Entering Token Table Values	42
Figure E2.7 – Entering User Documentation for a Field	43
Figure E2.8 – Adding Another New Field to a File	44
Figure E2.9 – The Fields Screen After Adding Three New Fields	45
Figure E2.7 The Fletas Serven file flatang file e fleta fletas Figure E2.10 – Data Dictionary Processing Status Screen	46
Figure E2.10 Data Dictionary 1 rocessing Status Screen	47
Figure E2.17 - In FXF we result et al e Status Server	49
Figure E3.2 – Input Processes for Application DMO	50
Figure E3.2 – Adding a New Input Process	51
Figure E3.5 – Adding a New Input Process	
Figure E3.7 – Input Processes Documentation	
Figure E3.5 – Input Processes – Indues	
Figure E3.5 Input Processes Intuges	
Figure E3.7 The Images Screen After Entering GUI Attributes	
Figure E3.0 – The Intuges Screen Ajter Entering OOT All IDules	
г igure LJ.7 — Гиелг I Л Imuge Luuor Figure F3 11 — Innut Process Image After Adding First I abel Widget	
Figure E.S. 11 – Input I rocess Image After Adding Three Label Widgets	
Figure E.5.12 – Input Frocess Image After Adding Three Label Wildgels	
гigure L5.15 – AFYA Data Fatette - Applications	01

Figure E3.14 – APPX Data Palette - Files	61
Figure E3.16 – Label & Field Alignment	
Figure E3.17 – Button Properties Screen	64
Figure E3.18 – Completed Input Image	
Figure E3.19 – Optional Child Processes Listing	
Figure E3.20 – Optional Process Child Constraints	
Figure E3.21 – Child Constraint Record	69
Figure E3.22 – Prospect Maintenance screen with new button	
Figure E3.23 – Invoke a Process	71
Figure E3.24 – Current System Setup	
Figure E4.1 – Generate 'Standard' Output Process	
Figure E4.2 – Completed Output Generation Screen	
Figure E4.3 – Edit Field/Item Generation Seq & Descriptive Screen	
Figure E4.4 – Completed Edit Field/Item Generation Seq & Descriptive Screen	77
Figure E4.5 – Job Steps for Generated Report Job	
Figure E4.6 – Query Process	
Figure E4.7 – Query Process Enduser Selections	
Figure E4.8 – Sort Order Screen	
Figure E4.9 – Sort Order Additional Attributes	
Figure E4.10 – Output Processes	
Figure E4.11 Output Process Frame listing	
Figure E4.12 – Record Image display	
Figure E4.13 – Field Additional Attributes	
Figure E4.14 – Invoke a Process Screen	
Figure E4.15 – Record Selection Screen	
Figure E4.16 – Modified Sort Order screen	
Figure E4.17 – Disposition Screen	
Figure E4.18 – Report On-Screen Display	
Figure E4.19 – Menu/Toolbar Properties screen	
Figure E4.20 – New option on Toolbar	

Introduction

APPX is a powerful development tool and runtime environment. The APPX development environment can be used to develop full-featured, business applications quickly and easily. Whether your application is complex or simple, APPX can meet your business needs. APPX applications are readily maintainable and extensible with a minimum of effort. Start off small and expand your simple application into a suite of applications, or begin with a suite of ready-to-run business application templates that can be enhanced and made even more sophisticated to match the fluidity of your business rules. Either way, APPX can provide you with the perfect business solutions.

The APPX runtime environment provides all APPX applications with a consistent look and feel. All APPX applications also inherit significant functionality from the runtime environment. With each new release of APPX, your existing applications gain increased functionality, usually without requiring any programming changes.

APPX is a RAD (Rapid Application Development) tool. By using APPX, application designers can create full-featured business applications in a fraction of the time required to create comparable business applications when utilizing traditional programming languages. APPX's proven design philosophy allows application designers to focus on the business rules instead of the data processing rules. APPX provides the application framework. The application designer provides the business logic. The result is dynamic business application software that can easily keep pace with the ever-changing requirements of the 21st century workplace.



Figure 1 – The APPX Utility Menu

Getting Started

To run the Prospect Management System Application Design Demo, you will need to use the APPX Web Client or the APPX Desktop Client to connect to the APPX Demo Server where APPX and the demo software have been installed. The APPX Demo Server is accessible via the Internet.

The easiest way to run the demo is to use your Microsoft Internet Explorer web browser to access the Prospect Management System demo web page that can be found on the APPX web site at the following address:

http://www.tryappx.com/demos/prospect management system.htm

When you click on the "<u>Run the Demo Using the APPX Web Client</u>" link, another browser window will open and the APPX Web Client components will be installed into your browser. The first time you run the APPX Web Client, you will need to wait while the necessary APPX Web Client components are automatically installed. Depending on the speed of your Internet connection, the initial download and installation of the APPX Web Client components can take from 1 to 15 minutes. When the installation is complete, the APPX Web Client will display the APPX Demo Server screen (see *Figure 3* on the next page). Please note that the next time you use the APPX Web Client, your browser will be able to launch the APPX Web Client much more quickly since the APPX Web Client components will have been previously installed.

Another way to run the demo is to use the "standalone" APPX Desktop Client to login to the APPX Demo Server directly via the Internet. To use the APPX Desktop Client, you must first download and install the APPX Desktop Client to your desktop. The APPX Desktop Client can be downloaded from the Prospect Management System Demo web page identified above. To install the APPX Desktop Client, simply run the file you downloaded and follow the installation directions. After completing the installation of the APPX Desktop Client, ensure that you still have an Internet connection. Then, run the APPX Desktop Client using the program that was added to your Windows Start Programs menu by the installation process. After starting the APPX Desktop Client, enter the following "Remote" connection information when the APPX Client Login dialog box is presented (see *Figure 2* below):

	Login: Password Server: Server Po	l: ort:	prospect prospect vardemo.a 8064	ppx.c	om	
ti.	🖁 APPX Cli	ent Log	gin		_ [×
	Local Rem	ote Op	otions			
	Login	prospe	ct			
	Password	*****	**			
	Server	vardem	io.appx.com			
	Server Port	8064				
					Connec	
					<u>C</u> anc	el

Figure 2 – The APPX Client Login Dialog Box

Once you have connected to the APPX Demo Server using either the APPX Web Client or the APPX Desktop Client, you will be presented with the APPX Demo Server screen for the Prospect Management System Demo (see *Figure 3* below).



Figure 3 – The APPX Demo Server

The "Application Design" button will launch the Prospect Management System *Application Design* Demo. If you have not already run the Prospect Management System *Runtime* Demo, you should run that demo before you run the Prospect Management System *Application Design* Demo. There is a separate demo guide for the Prospect Management System *Runtime* Demo.

Navigating the System

File

Before we actually run the demo, let's examine some of the pull-down menus that you will see when you run APPX. These menus are always available to you while running any APPX application.

Under the "File" pull-down menu you will find an option for 'Print Setup'. As you would expect, this invokes the standard (and no doubt familiar) Windows Print Setup dialog box (see *Figure 4*) and enables you to specify the default printer on which you would like your reports to print. The properties for the printer can also be set to accommodate the printing requirements of various reports.

Pr	int Setup			? ×
[Printer			
	<u>N</u> ame:	HP DeskJet 895C Series Printer	•	<u>P</u> roperties
	Status:	Default printer; Ready		
	Type:	HP DeskJet 895C Series Printer		
	Where:	Local		
	Comment:	HP DeskJet 895C Series Printer		
[Paper		C Orientation	
	Size:	A4 (210 x 297 mm)		Portrait
	<u>S</u> ource:	Default		C L <u>a</u> ndscape
			OK	Cancel

Figure 4 – The Print Setup Dialog Box

APPX Prospect Management System File Options Help ✓ GUI Interface 1 Show Option Numbers Auto Tab-Out Auto Select ect Management System Always Dock Scrollbar Show Gridlines APPX Demo Server Run Demo Application <u>D</u>esign <u>E</u>xit Credits U01 DMO APL 00

Options On the "Options" pull-down menu you will find several useful options:

Figure 5 – The Print Setup Dialog Box

<u>GUI Interface</u> – This option allows you to control the appearance of your screens. This option is primarily for debugging use and should normally be enabled. You should not change this option unless you are instructed to do so by your system administrator.

<u>Show Option Numbers</u> – APPX applications are mouse enabled but can also be run entirely from the keyboard. If you intend to use the keyboard instead of your mouse, but you do not know the APPX option numbers for the various application features, then you should enable the 'Show Option Numbers' option.

<u>Auto Tab-Out</u> – If this option is enabled, then APPX will automatically tab to the next field when the current field has been filled with data from the keyboard.

<u>Auto Select</u> – If this option is enabled, then APPX will automatically select the contents of a field when the field gets the focus.

<u>Always Dock Scroll Bar</u> – If this option is enabled, then APPX will always display the scroll bar for scrolling regions of data entry screens. If this option is not enabled, then APPX will only display the scroll bar if the mouse pointer is moved near the right side of a scrolling region of an input process.

<u>Show Gridlines</u> – If this option is enabled, then APPX will superimpose a grid over the contents of the current screen. This option is primarily intended for use by an application designer to facilitate the design and layout of screens.

The APPX Toolbar

The buttons on the APPX toolbar at the top of the APPX screen (and shown in *Figure 6*) perform very specific pre-defined tasks and are standard throughout the entire system. If you have trouble remembering what any button does, simply move your cursor over the button and the appropriate tooltip will be displayed indicating the function of the button.

2	8	č a	<u>u</u>	8.	K a	₩
Figure 6 – The APPX Toolbar						

These buttons perform the following tasks (which can also be achieved using the keys or combination of keys indicated in parentheses):

*	The ENTER button is used to save input and complete the current task. (ENTER)
8	The CANCEL button enables you to immediately cancel a task or process without saving. (CTRL + F8)
ča	The ADD MODE button moves you into Add Mode so you can add new information. (F9)
	The CHANGE MODE button moves you into Change Mode so you can change existing information. (F12)
8.	The INQUIRE MODE button moves you into Inquire Mode so you can view, but not modify, existing information. (F11)
6	The DELETE MODE button moves you into Delete Mode so you can delete existing information. (F10) Once you enter DELETE MODE, you will be prompted to acknowledge that you wish to delete the selected record using the ACKNOWLEDGE DELETE key described below. The selected record will not be deleted until the action is confirmed.
1	The ACKNOWLEDGE DELETE key confirms that you wish to permanently delete a record. (CTRL + $F10$)
OPTION	The APPX OPTION key is used to invoke an APPX process from a menu process or from an input process by referencing it by its <i>internal</i> APPX Option #. The OPTION key is the "`" key. This key is usually on the top left of the keyboard next to the "1" key. A single digit option (such as " OPTION 1") is invoked by pressing and releasing the OPTION key once and then pressing the appropriate digit. A two digit option (such as OPTION 10) is invoked by pressing and releasing the OPTION key twice and then separately pressing the keys for the appropriate option number. Within APPX application design, there are occasions where you will need to use the OPTION key to utilize certain useful features. If you are not sure of the appropriate OPTION number, remember that you can enable SHOW OPTION NUMBERS on the "Options" pull-down menu. This will show you the <i>internal</i> APPX option numbers for buttons and pull-down menu items.

The function keys on your keyboard also perform pre-defined tasks as follows:

F1	The HELP key enables you to get online help. Position the mouse/cursor on the field for which you require assistance, then press F1and the help text will be displayed. Alternatively, you may select the '?' in the top right corner of your APPX window and then click on the field in question in order to see the help text.
F2	The SCAN key allows you to look up information in a file from your current process. Fields on which SCAN can be executed are generally identifiable by the binoculars button that appears to the right of the field.
F3	The SELECT ACCESS PATH key allows you to select which predefined index should be used when retrieving records from a file.
F4	The PREVIOUS IMAGE key allows you to return to a previous step. Think of it as a 'Back' key.
F5	The NEXT RECORD key allows you to move from your currently selected record to the next record when in inquire, change or delete mode.
F8/ESC	The END key allows you to exit or end the current process. You can use either the F8 or the ESC key.

HELPFUL TIP:

If you find yourself "lost" within an APPX application or "stuck" on a screen during the course of this demonstration, try one of the following:

? or F1 Select **HELP** if you are unsure what to enter in a particular field.

1

 $m{x}$

Select **ENTER** to move forward.

ESC Select **ESC** to exit the current screen.

If all else fails, select **CANCEL** to immediately end your current task. Entries you made on the current screen will most likely be lost when CANCEL is used.

Most important of all, remember to check your screen for useful information. Error and Warning messages are displayed in the status bar at the bottom of your APPX screen and will often supply the answer to a problem you may be experiencing. This is where you will be advised of any invalid data that you have entered or any invalid options that you have selected.

Note: The options described above are standard throughout all APPX applications and will produce the same results regardless of which APPX application you are running. Once you are familiar with these keyboard shortcuts and toolbar usage, you will be able to navigate your way around any APPX application.

The Demo Company



Figure 7 – Dazzle's Prospect Management System

Dazzle Marketing Operations (DMO) is a fictitious company located in the Florida Keys. Dazzle specializes in distributing software worldwide. One of its primary tasks involves managing intensive marketing activities to businesses in need of productivity software. The key to their success is the Prospect Management System that they have designed based on the requirements of their marketing program. Though still under construction, the Prospect Management System enables Dazzle to track all sales and marketing activities to ensure that up-to-date information is readily available for all prospects.

Think of how this simple Application can grow with the company . . .

- Imagine it expanding into many applications that handle every aspect of the business from prospect management to accounting ...
- Envision it running on the World Wide Web so that sales consultants can update the system even though they are not office-based ...

As you are about to see, these things and much more are possible with APPX.

The Prospect Management System Demo Application

Dazzle's application enables its staff to perform the following functions:

- Enter and maintain Sales Representatives' records
- Enter and maintain Prospect records with full details including names and addresses, web address, number of employees, market sector, number of locations, etc. together with a history of sales and marketing activities relating to that prospect
- Generate reports on all marketing activities for a particular prospect including details of correspondence sent and received
- Generate sales forecast reports
- Track follow-up activities requiring action

Figure 7 on the previous page shows the main Prospect Demo Application menu, which the users see in their runtime environment.

During the course of this application design demonstration, you will actually change parts of this application and immediately run the modified application to test the changes.

Application Design – An Overview

The APPX development environment is made up of 3 major areas:

- The **APPX Engine**, which contains the standard data processing rules;
- The **Data Dictionary**, which is where the attributes of all the data used in any application are stored;
- A collection of **Processes** that are used to manipulate the data to perform the desired tasks.

The **APPX Engine** is something that you will not directly manipulate; rather, it takes the definitions of data from the Data Dictionary specifications and applies the business rules specified in the Processes to produce a result.

The **Data Dictionary** is the cornerstone of application development and contains all the definitions of the files that you use as well as any work fields you require. The dictionary specifications provide a central repository for all data and file attributes that the processes (menus, inputs, outputs, etc.) reference as they are developed. The APPX Data Dictionary is active, or integrated, which means that all the information that a designer specifies in the dictionary is used by, and places restrictions on, all processes within an APPX application. The principal components of APPX's Data Dictionary are Domains, Fields, and Files.

A *Domain* is a generic definition or template for fields that share a set of common attributes. With a Domain, you can specify the attributes of a field (such as Customer Number) once, and then refer to that Domain when defining a Customer Number field in all files within the application. This ensures consistency of definition and facilitates change since changes made to a domain are automatically inherited by all fields whose definition is based on the domain.

A *Field* is the most elemental data storage structure in an application. Fields are typically defined within files but can also be defined as standalone "work" fields. A *Work Field* is a temporary field that is not stored in a file and does not therefore permanently store application data. Work Fields are frequently used in applications to store intermediate data values, to facilitate calculations, and to display computed values.

A *File* or *Table* is a data storage structure that consists of a group of related fields. When defining a file you can specify whether it is a permanent file shared by all APPX users or a temporary, non-shared file. If it is a temporary file, you can further specify whether it should reside on Disk, or in Memory, and the scope of the file. You can change a file definition any time, even after data has been added to the file, and then use the Restructure utility, which APPX provides, to automatically map your existing data to conform to the new definition.

APPX applications include nine different type of **Processes**: Menu, Job, Input, Output, Update, Inquiry, Status, Query and Subroutine. Each process type has its own built-in behavior based on a comprehensive set of data processing rules. For example, an application designer can create an Input process for a file defined in the Data Dictionary to provide a user with the ability to maintain data in a file, without writing any program code. Processes can be called and executed by other processes, chained together, called iteratively, or run independently of other processes. Ranking the processes by the complexity of their built in behaviors rearranges them as follows: Input, Output, Query, Job, Inquiry, Menu, Status, Update and Subroutine.

For ease of organization, APPX allows you to logically group your file and process definitions into **applications**, identified by a 3-character application ID. APPX **Databases**, which identify the actual data for an application, are similarly identified by a 3-character database ID. You can have multiple versions of an application, for example a test version and a production version. You can have multiple databases based on the same application version in order to separate one company's or division's data from another. Different databases can also share common files.

The APPX design environment is fully integrated. For example, while defining an Input process you have the ability to look up any definition in the Data Dictionary, as well as the ability to change it. There are also several very useful utilities to create default Input and Output processes, perform cross references, print technical documentation, transfer designs from one application to another, and more.

How APPX Speeds and Simplifies Development

The built-in features of the APPX engine mean that the entire Application Design process is faster and less complex than creating the same application using traditional programming languages. APPX has been designed and optimized to automatically deal with all of the standard data processing issues required for any business application. This enables the APPX application designer to focus on the business aspects of the application, and provides for extremely fast development and maintenance of complex business applications.

At Runtime:

Once you have defined your data dictionary structures, they are used by APPX at runtime to automatically validate and control any data entered in the application. The automatic data processing rules include:

- checking valid values in a field
- checking valid data ranges
- controlling entering of upper and lower case characters
- controlling entering of signed numeric values in unsigned fields
- allowing data lookups to files
- controlling data alignment and pad characters
- allowing/disallowing blank values
- controlling field display masks
- controlling access to fields for security reasons
- allocating automatic sequence numbers on key fields (if required)
- recording data audit information

All of this is taken care of by APPX without a single line of programming code being required. In addition, APPX monitors all files for structural changes and provides automatic notification if a file restructure is required.

During Application Design:

- APPX automatically checks your Data Dictionary specifications for errors and, if errors are identified, allows you to immediately drill down to the error and repair it.
- APPX validates every reference to a file or field during Process design and validates usage to ensure consistency with Data Dictionary specifications.
- APPX offers you the option of checking a process for errors without actually running the process. This is particularly useful in the case of processes that modify data.
- When a data lookup is defined on a field in the Data Dictionary, APPX automatically includes this data lookup on any data entry processes subsequently added to your application.
- APPX allows you to copy existing fields, files and/or processes for modification and re-use.
- If you make a change to a field, that change is automatically reflected in any processes referencing that field. If you expand a field, you can use APPX's powerful utilities to check all processes for field overlaps and "drill down" straight to problem processes to make the necessary modifications.
- APPX includes utilities to automatically generate data entry screens and reports based on predefined Data Dictionary specifications.
- APPX includes extensive cross-referencing capabilities. For example, you can use the cross-reference to find where and how a field is used in your application.

Running APPX Application Design

During the course of this demo, you will be making some changes to this application to demonstrate how easy it is to maintain applications designed in APPX *even when you know very little about the design of the application*.

From the APPX Demo Server Menu (shown in *Figure 3*), select Application Design by clicking on the Application Design button or by using the shortcut key Alt + D.

👷 APPX Prospect Management System 📃 🗆 🗙
File Options Help
🖆 🤒 🖆 🖻 🏧 🍯
APPX - Application Design
Design Application 🛛 🗖 DO 🖬 Prospect Management System
Database Management
<u>U</u> tilities
<u>R</u> un Test Database
mbie Gefeure is the Walneble mede Granet Descents of 100% Gefeures. The
This Software is the valuable frade Secret Property of APPA Software, Inc. Convright (c) 1990-1999 by APPA Software. Inc. All Rights Reserved.
UD1 DMO 00 Chg

Figure 8 – APPX Application Design screen.

- You are presented with the main APPX Application Design screen (*Figure 8*). Notice that application DMO, version 00 (zero zero) has already been conveniently selected for you. Normally you would specify which application and version you want to design.
- Notice that the Application ID and version (DMO 00) is displayed in the status bar on the bottom right corner of the screen. This will continue to be displayed as you move through application design and offers an easy method of verifying that you are working within the correct application.

The Database Management option on this menu enables the designer to:

- view and/or maintain domains, files, fields and work fields
- process data dictionary specifications and translate them into a format more readily usable by APPX during process execution
- manage physical files (create files, restructure files, initialize files, etc.)

The **Process Management** option allows the designer to view and/or maintain processes. There are nine different process types as follows:

- Menus for selection of tasks or processes by users
- Jobs for running a logical sequence of processes in succession
- Inputs for entering and maintaining data
- **Outputs** for generating reports and special forms
- Updates for modifying, adding or deleting a set of records within a file or group of files
- Queries for selecting and sorting records for further processing (in outputs and updates, for example)
- **Inquiries** for presentation of data on-line to users (with an option to produce a hard copy of the displayed information)
- Statuses for providing error reporting options and for interrupting a series of processes for user intervention
- Subroutines for housing a set of rules used in multiple processes or for performing tasks outside of APPX.

The Utilities option includes facilities to allow the designer to carry out tasks including the following:

- design transfer (copy with rename) existing application design elements for modification and re-use
- change references (i.e., search and replace) to domains, files, fields, processes or application IDs
- run cross-references on design elements to find where and how they are used in an application or in multiple applications
- print technical documentation
- foreign language translations

The **Run Test Database** option enables the designer to specify a database ID against which to run the currently selected application in a test environment.

1.0 Exercise 1 – Change the Length of a Field

For the purposes of this demo, lets assume that you have recently joined Dazzle's IT Department as an APPX Application Designer Trainee. Business is booming and there is some concern by the sales manager that the existing Prospect Number field will not be large enough to accommodate the ever-increasing number of prospects. Currently this field is large enough to record up to '9999' prospects but this number will soon be reached so the field must be expanded.

You have not yet had a chance to familiarize yourself with the actual design of the DMO application but your supervisor has asked you, as your first task, to increase the size of the Prospect Number field from a four-digit numeric field to a five-digit numeric field in all files that include a Prospect Number field.

1.1 A Quick Look at a Domain

Your immediate problem is that you are not familiar with the files and fields in the DMO application. Consequently, you do not know which files include a Prospect Number field. You could browse thru the design of each file looking for Prospect Number fields. But, you recall from the *Introduction to APPX Application Design* class that you recently attended that a field that occurs in more than one file would most likely be defined by referencing a **Domain**. A Domain is a template that can be used to define a field that occurs in more than one file thereby ensuring a consistent definition of the field in all files. So, you decide to take a look at the Domains that have been defined for the DMO application.

From the APPX - Application Design menu, select Database Management by either clicking on the Database Management button or by pressing Alt + D. The Database Management menu (*Figure E1.1*) is displayed.

APPX Prospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options Process Help	
🖆 😆 🖆 📫 🖼 🏧 🍇	
APPX - Application Design	? X X
Design Application DMO 00 Prospe	ect Management System
	Database Management ? 🗸 🗙
	Data Dictionary- <u>Domains</u> <u>Files</u> <u>Work Fields</u> <u>Process Dictionary</u>
This Software is the Valuable Trade Secret Copyright (c) 1990-1999 by APPX Software,	Physical File Management- File Management
	U01 DMO 00 Chg

Figure E1.1 – Database Management Menu

Select the **Domains** option by clicking on the **Domain** button or by pressing Alt + D. A scrolling list of domains is displayed (*Figure E1.2*).

📲 APPX Prospect Manage	ment Syster	n	_ 🗆 ×				
File Options Process Help)						
1 🖄 😢 🖆 🖼 🖎 🏍							
Domains			? ✓ ×				
			Options				
Domain Name	Туре	Format	T DL AA				
ACTIVITY SEQUENCE NO	NUMERIC 💌	9(3)	Т				
ACTIVITY TYPE	ALPHA	X(15)	T DL				
ADDRESS LINE	ALPHA	X(30)	Т				
ADDRESS TEXT	TEXT	X (300)	Т				
CITY	ALPHA	X (20)	Т				
COUNTRY	ALPHA	X(15)	T DL				
FIRST NAME	ALPHA	X(15)	Т				
FULL NAME	ALPHA	X (30)	t aa				
INDUSTRY TYPE	ALPHA	X(18)	T DL				
LAST NAME	ALPHA	X(15)	Т				
POSTAL CODE	ALPHA	X (20)	Т				
PROSPECT NO	NUMERIC	9(4)	T DL AA				
REGION	ALPHA	X(20)	t aa				
<u> </u>	<u> </u>	ata Lookup <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes					
		U01 DMO 00) Chg				

Figure E1.2 – Scrolling List of Domains

Upon examining the list of **Domains**, you see a Domain Name of **PROSPECT NO**. You also notice that the format information '9(4)' indicates that this domain is a template that can be used to define a 4-digit, unsigned, numeric field.

You select the PROSPECT NO domain by clicking on the appropriate row or by pressing ENTER after using the cursor down key to highlight the appropriate row. *Figure E1.3* shows the list of domains with the PROSPECT NO domain selected.

APPX Prospect Management System							
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help							
Domains			? ✓ ×				
			Ontions				
Domain Name	Type	Format	т рт. аа				
ACTIVITY SEQUENCE NO	NUMERIC	9(3)	т				
ACTIVITY TYPE	ALPHA	x(15)	T DL				
ADDRESS LINE	ALPHA	x (30)	T				
ADDRESS TEXT	TEXT	x(300)	т				
CITY	ALPHA	X(20)	т				
COUNTRY	ALPHA	X(15)	T DL				
FIRST NAME	ALPHA	X(15)	Т				
FULL NAME	ALPHA	X(30)	T AA				
INDUSTRY TYPE	ALPHA	X(18)	T DL				
LAST NAME	ALPHA	X(15)	Т				
POSTAL CODE	ALPHA	X(20)	Т				
PROSPECT NO	NUMERIC 💌	9(4)	T DL AA				
REGION	ALPHA	X (20)	T AA				
<u> </u>	<u>D</u> a	ata Lookup <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes					
) Chg				

Figure E1.3 – The PROSPECT NO Domain

Having selected the PROSPECT NO domain, you press ENTER to view the specifications for the domain as shown by *Figure E1.4*.

This screen confirms that the **PROSPECT NO** domain is defined as 4-digit, unsigned, numeric with no digits to the right of the decimal point.

APPX Prospect M	lanagement Syste	m		_ 🗆 ×
File Options Proces	s Help			
	K a K a			,
Domains				? 🗸 🗙
				Outriana
Domoin Nomo	Trme	Pormet		T DT AA
ACTIVITY SHOURNC	ацикара ра			
ACTIVITY TYPE	(NUMERIC) PR	USPECT NU		
ADDDESS LINE				P-1
ADDRESS TRYT	Digita- Left	4 Pight		
CITY	Digits Here	I. Kight lo		
COUNTRY	Signed2			т.
FIRST NAME	signed.	-		
FILL NAME	Descriptive			2.2
INDUSTRY TYPE	recorre	,		т.
LAST NAME	Column Hdas			
POSTAL CODE	ooraan nago			
PROSPECT NO		,		L AA
REGION		?		AA
		Add'l Attributes	1	
			-	
			U01	DMO 00 Chg

Figure E1.4 – The Definition of the PROSPECT NO Domain

You also notice that the Additional Attributes button is highlighted, so you click on it to see what additional attributes have been specified for this domain.

Figure E1.5 shows that the **PRODUCT NO** domain has a range specified and that only values greater than (GT) zero are allowed.

📲 APPX Prospect Manag	ement System		
File Options Help			
🖆 🛛 🖆 📫 🖼 🏹	S		
Domains			
			Options
Domain Name	T Add'l Attributes (PROS	PECT NO)	?✓× AA
	_ =		
ACTIVITY SEQUENC	The family Walness		
ACTIVITY TYPE	VER Default value	1	
ADDRESS TEXT Dig	its Range Checks	GT 0	
CITY			
COUNTRY Sig:	ned		
FIRST NAME	Dflt Dspl Mask		
FULL NAME Des	ri	_	AA
INDUSTRY TYPE	Print Totals?		
LAST NAME Col	umn	ETVER DECTION	
POSTAL CODE	Storage Type	FIXED DECIMAL	
REGION			AA
		U01	DMO 00 Chq

Figure E1.5 – Additional Attributes for the PROSPECT NO Domain

At this point, you are reasonably satisfied that this domain is the one you need to change. You know that all you need to do is change the number of digits from 4 to 5 and APPX will take care of updating all field definitions that are based on this domain throughout the entire application. APPX will also automatically update all input screens and reports to use the new, longer definition for all Prospect Number fields. And, you will be able to use the APPX Restructure Utility to automatically convert all of your existing data to include the extra digit.

But, it occurs to you that it would be prudent to use the **Domains Cross-Reference Utility** to locate and review all fields that are based on the **PROSPECT NO** domain before you actually make a change of this magnitude.

- > You press ESC or F8 to return to the specification screen for the PROSPECT NO domain.
- > You press ESC or F8 to return to the Domains screen.
- > You press ESC or F8 to return to the Database Management menu.
- > You press ESC or F8 to return to the APPX Application Design menu.

1.2 The Domains Cross-Reference Utility

Having determined that there is a domain that can be used for defining Prospect Number data fields, you now would like to know which fields in the application have actually been defined using the **PROSPECT NO** domain. APPX includes a variety of powerful cross-reference utilities that are indispensable tools when making changes to an application, especially an application that you are not familiar with. The **Domain Cross-Reference Utility** is exactly what you need!

- From the **APPX Application Design** menu, select the **Utilities** option.
- From the **Utilities** menu, select the **Cross-Reference** option.

File Options Process Help Image: Second Se
Image: Section Design Image: System Design Application DMO 00 Prospect Management System Utilities Image: System
APPX - Application Design ? Design Application DMO 00 Prospect Management System Utilities ?
Design Application DMO 00 Prospect Management System
Design Application DMO 00 Prospect Management System
Design Application DMO UU Prospect Management System Utilities
Utilities 12 VX
Database Mai
Process Man Application Parameters
Cross-Reference
Design Transfer
Cross-Reference
Domains Application IDs echnical Documentation
Fields All Toolbox
nguage Translation
Processes Lamed Resources
mbie Geferene is the Velochle mode Grouph Descents of 1000 Geferene Ter
Convergent (a) 1990-1990 by APPY Software Inc.
copyright (c) 1990-1999 by APPA Soltware, inc. All Rights Reserved.

Figure E1.6 – Field Context

From the Cross-Reference menu, select the Domains option since you want to find all references to the PROSPECT NO domain (*Figure E1.6*).

- When the Cross-Reference (Domains) input screen is displayed you are prompted to enter the name of the domain for which a cross-reference is to be run. The current application ID (DMO) is already entered for you (although you could change this if you wanted to run a Cross-Reference for a domain defined in a different application). Enter PROSPECT NO in the domain name field and press ENTER to validate the domain name you entered. If you have entered a valid domain name, the domain format specification will be displayed beside the field name you entered. The binoculars icon indicates that you can perform a lookup of the domain name in the event that you do not know the name of a particular domain. Remember, any time you see the binoculars button while running APPX, you can lookup values for the indicated field.
- Press ENTER to save your record. An empty Domain field is displayed to allow entry of additional domain names as shown in *Figure E1.7*.

👷 APPX Prospect Manageme	ent System		_ 🗆 🗙
File Options Help			,
122 😣 👛 📫 🖼 🏧			
Cross-Reference (Domains)			? ✓ ×
App Domain	Descriptive	Format	
DMO PROSPECT NO		9(4)	
DMO INCONTROL NO	H		
			- 1
Add Domains to this scro.	lling file to be cros	s-referenced. Use an asteri	.sk (*)
for ALL Domains. When t	he list of Domains is	complete, press END.	
		U01 DMO 00	Add

Figure E1.7 – Cross-Reference for Domains

Since you are only interested in this one domain, press ESC or F8 to exit from this screen.

📲 APPX Prospect Manage	ment System	
File Options Process Help		
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	í	
Cross Reference Options		? V X
	Browse Results Interactively?	
	Produce Report?	
Define App	lighting to Secret	Other Options
<u>D</u> enne App	ications to Search	
	Proceed Car	icel
<u></u>		
		U01 DMO 00 Chg

The Cross-Reference Options screen is presented (Figure E1.8).

Figure E1.8 – Cross Reference Options

- By default, the Browse Results Interactively? field is checked. This will enable you to "drill down" directly to the location of each reference found.
- The Produce Report? Option determines whether or not a hard copy of the resulting output is to be produced. Leave this field at its default value of blank.
- Selecting Define Applications to Search, as the name suggests, allows you to specify a list of applications against which you want to run the cross-reference. Since you are only interested in application DMO this option is not of interest to you at this time. However, an APPX application designer working on a multi-application system would undoubtedly want to run the cross-reference against every application in the system, since domains can be shared across applications. If you click on this option, press ESC or F8 to exit.
- Selecting the Other Options button will allow you to specify whether or not you want APPX to include ILF statements that have been "commented out" (and that are therefore not executed) in the Cross-Reference. If you click on this option, press ESC or F8 to exit.
- ➤ To run the cross-reference, click on the Proceed button or press ENTER or click on the ✓ button in the top right of the cross-reference options screen.

Once the cross-reference has run, the results are presented on the **Interactive Cross-Reference** screen (*Figure E1.9*) for review. You can immediately see all the fields in the DMO application that reference the **PROSPECT NO** domain. You see that there are four different data files and one work field that reference the **PROSPECT NO** domain.

File Options Process Help Interactive Cross Reference Interactive Cross Reference	a 🖥	PPX	Prospect N	lanageme	nt System						Į.	_ 🗆 ×
Interactive Cross Reference ? * > App Typ Id (Is Found In) Ri App Typ Id App Typ Id DMO Dom PROSPECT NO	File	Optic	ons <u>P</u> roces	s Help								
Interactive Cross Reference ? <th?< th=""><th>*</th><th>8</th><th><u>ta</u> 💁 😪</th><th>🏷 🖄</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></th?<>	*	8	<u>ta</u> 💁 😪	🏷 🖄								
App Typ Id Id Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d CONTACT PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d CONTACT PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d OPFORTUN PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Cf	Intera	ctive	Cross Refer	ence								? ✓ ×
App Typ Id App Typ Id Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld CONTACT PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld OPPORTUN PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Cf DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Cf												
App Typ Id App Typ Id Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld CONTACT PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld OPPORTUN PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld OPPORTUN PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Ct DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Ct												
App Typ Id Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d CONTACT PROSPECT NO Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d CONTACT PROSPECT NO Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d OPPORTUN PROSPECT NO Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d PROSPECT NO Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Control DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO F1d WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO Control						(Is	Found	In) Rf
DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld CONTACT PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld OPPORTUN PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO I	App	тур	Id			App	тур	Id				Ct
DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld CONTACT PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld OPORTUN PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld VORK ORIG PROSPECT NO I	DMO	Dom	PROSPECT	NO		DMO	Fld	ACTIVITY	PROSPEC	T NO		1
DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld OPPORTUN PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld PROSPECT NO I DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO I	DMO	Dom	PROSPECT	NO		DMO	Fld	CONTACT H	ROSPECT	NO		1
DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d PROSPECT NO : DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO F1d WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO :	DMO	Dom	PROSPECT	NO		DMO	Fld	OPPORTUN	PROSPEC	T NO		1
DMO Dom PROSPECT NO DMO Fld WORK ORIG PROSPECT NO :	DMO	Dom	PROSPECT	NO		DMO	Fld	PROSPECT	NO			1
<u>Marin R</u> eferences:	DMO	Dom	PROSPECT	NO		DMO	Fld	WORK ORIG	F PROSPE	CT NO		1
<u>erer R</u> eferences	L											
	L .											
<u>etter R</u> eferences:***	L .											
<u>erer R</u> eferences	L .											
	L .											
	L											
	L .											
en e	L											
					Re	foron	-00					
						iereni						
						_	_			DMC	1 00 0	Cha

Figure E1.9 – Cross-Reference Results

To view the context of a particular domain reference, select the desired reference and then click on the References button.

The resulting "Context" screen shows the name of the file in which the reference field is defined and the field sequence number. *Figure E1.10* shows that the **ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO** field that references the **PROSPECT NO** domain is in the **ACTIVITY** file.

ŝ	🖪 A	.PP>	(Pro	spe	ct M	ana	gem	ent Sys	tem							_ 🗆 ×
	File	Opt	tions	Pro	ocess	зH	elp									
ſ	2	8	1	<u>u</u>	<u>e.</u>	č a	鳌									
ĥ	Inter	activ	e Cro	ee Ri	efere	nce I	or D	MO Don	n PRO	SPECT	NO					? Z X
ľ	inter	denv		3310	STOTO	neer				OF EGT						
							As	Found	In:	DMO	Fld	ACTIVIT	Y PROSI	PECT NO		
l	Ref	No	Co	nte:	xt									Ref	Count:	1
I	1		Fi	le i	ACTI	VIT	Y, F	1d# 20	0							
l																
l																
l																
l																
l																
l																
l																
l																
l																
ľ												1				
									Jump -	l o This	Refere	ence		5		
														Ä		
ľ													U01		DMO 00	Inq

Figure E1.10 – Field Context

Click on the Jump To This Reference option and APPX will automatically take you straight to the Data Dictionary entry for the field that references the domain (*Figure E1.11*).

APPX Prospect Management System												
File Opti	ons <u>P</u> rocess Help											
122 😣	<u>*a</u> 💁 🎦 🏹											
Fielde	(ACTB 072)				2 2 2							
rieius	(ACTIVITT)											
			Dsp		-Options							
Seq No	Field Name	Field Type	Seq	Format	T DL AA KC							
100	ACTIVITY KEY	GROUP HEADER			Т Р							
200	ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO	DOMAIN 🔽		9(4)	T DL AA							
300	ACTIVITY SEQUENCE NO	DOMAIN		9(3)	AA							
400	ACTIVITY END	GROUP TRAILER										
500	ACTIVITY LAST NAME	DOMAIN	2	X(15)	Т							
600	ACTIVITY FIRST NAME	DOMAIN	3	X(15)	Т							
700	ACTIVITY DATE	DATE	1	CC-DD	Т							
800	ACTIVITY TIME	DATE	1	hh-mm	Т							
900	ACTIVITY TYPE	DOMAIN	4	X(15)	DL AA							
1000	ACTIVITY DATE ADDED	SYSTEM		Date Add, CC-DD								
1100	ACTIVITY ADDED BY	SYSTEM		User Add	Т							
1200	ACTIVITY DATE CHANGED	SYSTEM		Date Chg, CC-DD								
1300	ACTIVITY CHANGED BY	SYSTEM		User Chg								
	<u>T</u> oolbox <u>D</u> ata Look	up <u>A</u> dd'l A	Attribu	ites <u>K</u> ey Control								
				U01 DM	IO 00 Chg							

Figure E1.11 – Data Dictionary Entry for a Field

The **Fields** maintenance screen for the **ACTIVITY** file in the APPX Data Dictionary is displayed. Notice that the currently selected record is the **ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO** field, the field that references the **PROSPECT NO** domain.

Press ENTER to view the field specifications (*Figure E1.12*). Notice that the definition of the ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO field is indeed based on the PROSPECT NO domain.

Mappx	Prospect M	lanagement Sys	tem				_ 🗆 ×
File Optio	ons <u>P</u> roces	s Help					
122 😣	🍅 📫 😪	Ka Ka					
							أعادا
Fields	(AC	(TIVITY)	_	_	_	_	Y V X
				Dsp		-Opt	ions
Seq No	Field Nam	me	Field Type	Seq Forma	it	T DI	AA KC
100	ACTIVITY	(NUMERIC) AC	TIVITY PROSPECT NO			? 🗸	× P
200	ACTIVITY						A
300	ACTIVITY						A
400	ACTIVITY	Domain Name	DMO M PROSPECT	NO	<u>H</u>		
500	ACTIVITY						
600	ACTIVITY	Descriptive	Activity Prosp	ect Number			
700	ACTIVITY						
800	ACTIVITY	Column Hdgs	Activity				
900	ACTIVITY		Prospect#				A
1000	ACTIVITY						
1100	ACTIVITY	Auto Seq?					
1200	ACTIVITY						
1300	ACTIVITY						
			<u>A</u> dd'l A	ttributes			
					U01	DMO 00	Chg

Figure E1.12 – Field Definition Based on a Domain

- > Press ESC to return to the Fields screen.
- > Press **ESC** to return to the cross-reference **context** screen.
- > Press ESC to return to the Interactive Cross-Reference results screen.
- If you would like to examine the other four fields that reference the PROSPECT NO domain, please feel free to do so.

After you have finished reviewing the fields that reference the PROSPECT NO domain, press ESC to exit from the Domains Cross-Reference Utility. You are presented with a Confirmation screen to confirm that you wish to exit the process (*Figure E1.13*).

Sta A	PPX	Pro	spec	:t M	ana	gem	ent System	1 ×
File	Optio	ons	Hel	р				
2	8	<u>്</u> ಡ	<u>u</u>	8.	č a	₩		
Inter	active	Сго	ss Re	fere	nce		3	/ ×
App	Typ	Id					(Is Found In) App Typ Id	Rf Ct
DMC	Dom	PR	OSPE	ст	NO		Confirmation ? V × PROSPECT NO	1
DMC	Dom	PR	OSPE	ст	NO		ROSPECT NO	1
DMC	Dom	PR	OSPE	ст	NO		PROSPECT NO	1
DMC	Dom	PR	OSPE	ст	NO		Are you sure you want to NO	1
DMC	Dom	PR	OSPE	СТ	NO		end this process? PROSPECT NO	1
1								
1								
1								
1								
1								
								_
							References and	
		_	_	_				1

Figure E1.13 – Exit confirmation

- ➢ Click on the confirmation box to change its value to ✓ and then press ENTER to continue. You are returned to the Cross-Reference menu.
- > Press ESC to exit from the Cross-Reference menu and return to the Utilities menu.
- > Press ESC to exit from the Utilities menu and return to the main APPX Application Design menu.

1.3 Changing the Definition of a Domain

Having located the **PROSPECT NO** domain and having reviewed the fields that reference it, you confidently decide to change the definition of the **PROSPECT NO** domain. By following the steps below, you access the PROSPECT NO domain specifications screen.

- > From the APPX Application Design menu, select Database Management.
- From the **Database Management** menu, select **Domains**.
- From the list of **Domains**, select the **PROSPECT NO** domain and press **ENTER**.

The specification screen for the **PROSPECT NO** domain is displayed as shown in *Figure E1.14* below.

👷 APPX Prospect M	lanagement Syste	m		_ 🗆 ×
File Options Proces	s Help			
	X X			
				(
Domains				$? \checkmark \times$
		1		
Demoin News	(Trans	Remet		Uptions T DI AA
ACTIVITY SPOURNC	туре			
ACTIVITY TYPE	(NUMERIC) PR	USPECTINU		
ADDRESS LINE				<u> </u>
ADDRESS TEXT	Digita- Left	5 Right 0		
CITY	Digitob Lero	le vidue le		
COUNTRY	Signed?			T.
FIRST NAME	·	-		F
FULL NAME	Descriptive			AA
INDUSTRY TYPE	1	,		L
LAST NAME	Column Hdqs			
POSTAL CODE	-			
PROSPECT NO				L AA
REGION		?		AA
		<u>A</u> dd'l Attributes		
			U01 DMC	D 00 Chg

Figure E1.14 – Modified PROSPECT NO Domain Detail Screen

- > Position your cursor on the **Digits Left field** and the current value (4) is automatically highlighted.
- Change the 4 to a 5 since you want to expand the field from 4 digits to 5 digits as shown in *Figure E1.14* above.
- Press ENTER to save the revised domain specifications. You are returned to the Domains listing and automatically positioned on the next record in the listing.

- > Press **ESC** to exit **Domains**.
- On exiting, APPX automatically processes the Data Dictionary. Note that in addition to processing Domains (since you have just changed a domain) APPX also processes Work Fields and the four files containing fields that reference this Domain ACTIVITY, CONTACT, OPPORTUN and PROSPECT. Once the Data Dictionary has been processed APPX displays the results (*Figure E1.15*). Use the PageDown key to move through the list of files processed and check that no Errors have been reported.

tin an	PPX Pr	ospe	ct M	ana	geme	ent S	System				ı ×
File	Options	He	lp								
2	😣 🖾	<u>u</u>	8.	č a	č						
APP)	K - Applic	ation	Desig	In						? 🗸	/ ×
		Des	ign	App	licat	tion	n DMO OC) Prospect M	lanagement System		
								Data	base Management	? 🗸 🗙	
							Database	: Manageme			
			Proc	ess	Data D	ictio	onary (6 Ite	ms)	? 🗸		
			Se	q.	Арр		File	Message			
				i i							
			1		DMO-(00	Domains	Processed			
			2		DMO-()0	Wrk Flds	Processed			
			3		DMO-(00	ACTIVITY	Processed			
			4		DMO-l	JU	CONTACT	Processed		want-	
			Г	Pri	int Loc		1		Complet		
					Pos	iti	u.on & Pres:	s RETURN to V:	iew Detail		
	This So	oftw									
	Сору	cigh	t (c) 1	990-:	1999	9 by APPX	Software,			
									U01	ODB 00 Chç	3

Figure E1.15 – Processing the APPX Data Dictionary

The change you have just made should not have resulted in any errors. If errors had been detected then positioning your cursor on the file in question and pressing **ENTER** would show the error description and enable you to go directly to the error and correct it.

- > Press ESC to return to the Database Management menu.
- > To confirm that the fields that reference the PROPSECT NO domain have been changed, select Files.
- The first file in the list is ACTIVITY which is one of the four files that include a reference to the PROSPECT NO domain. Since the file is already selected, press ENTER to move to the Fields level.
- As you view the Fields in *Figure E1.16*, you can see that the ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO field, which references the PROSPECT NO domain, is now displaying with a Format of '9(5)' thus indicating that the field is now 5 digits long. If you check the CONTACT, OPPORTUN, and PROSPECT files, you will see that the other fields referencing the PROSPECT NO domain also show the new field length.

👷 APPX Prospect Management System 📃 🗖 🗙						
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help						
122 🛛	ta 🔹 😪 🏍 🚳					
Fields (ACTIVITY) ?						
			Dan		-Ontions	
Seq No	Field Name	Field Type	Seq	Format	T DL AA KC	
100	ACTIVITY KEY	GROUP HEADER 💌			Т Р	
200	ACTIVITY PROSPECT NO	DOMAIN		9(5)	T DL AA	
300	ACTIVITY SEQUENCE NO	DOMAIN		9(3)	AA	
400	ACTIVITY END	GROUP TRAILER				
500	ACTIVITY LAST NAME	DOMAIN	2	X(15)	Т	
600	ACTIVITY FIRST NAME	DOMAIN	3	X(15)	Т	
700	ACTIVITY DATE	DATE	1	CC-DD	Т	
800	ACTIVITY TIME	DATE	1	hh-mm	Т	
900	ACTIVITY TYPE	DOMAIN	4	X(15)	DL AA	
1000	ACTIVITY DATE ADDED	SYSTEM		Date Add, CC-DD		
1100	ACTIVITY ADDED BY	SYSTEM		User Add	Т	
1200	ACTIVITY DATE CHANGED	SYSTEM		Date Chg, CC-DD		
1300	ACTIVITY CHANGED BY	SYSTEM		User Chg		
<u>T</u> oolbox <u>D</u> ata Lookup <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes <u>K</u> ey Control						
U01 DMO 00 Chg						

Figure E1.16 – Fields in the ACTIVITY File

- > Press ESC to return to the File listing.
- > Press ESC to return to the Database Management menu.

Note that when you exited from the **Files** process, APPX did **not** automatically process the Data Dictionary. APPX monitors activity within **Domains**, **Files**, and **Work Fields** and will only process the Data Dictionary if changes have been made or if problems are identified. Also, note that the **Database Management** menu provides a **Process Dictionary** option that can be used to process the Data Dictionary on demand.

1.4 Restructuring Existing Data Files

Since you have changed the record structures of four files, you need to restructure the existing data in those files to match the new structures as now defined in the Data Dictionary for the application. The APPX Restructure Utility is a very powerful feature of APPX.

- > From the Database Management menu click on the File Management button.
- > The **Database Management** screen is presented (*Figure E1.17*).

APPX Prospect Management System						
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help						
🖆 🥝 🖆 📫 🖼 🏧 🏍						
Database Management ? 🗸 🗙						
Database DMO 🔒						
Application DMO						
0 of 0 Files Currently Selected						
File Selection Initialize Files File Specifications Scratch Files						
Create Files Import Files Restructure Files Export Files						
Rebuild Key Files Verify Files Menu Convert from 1.8 Format						
This Software is the Valuable Trade Secret Property of APPX Software, Inc. Copyright (c) 1990-1999 by APPX Software, Inc. All Rights Reserved.						
) Chg					

Figure E1.17 – Database Management Screen Before Selecting Files

- The Database field has a default value of DMO that is the correct value. Think of the Database ID as being an identifier for a set of data files for a particular Company or Division. In this case, Database DMO represents the data for our demo company, Dazzle Marketing Operations, Inc. APPX supports as many databases as you need for the various companies or divisions that might need to run an application. Notice that the Database field is modifiable since you might need to restructure more than one Database when you make changes to an Application's Data Dictionary.
- > The Application field also has a value of **DMO**.
Press ENTER to proceed. APPX will automatically select all of the files in the DMO application as shown in Figure E1.18 below.

APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Process Help	
🖆 😆 🖆 🖼 🖼 🏧	
Database Management	? ✓ ×
Database 🛛 🖬 azzle Marketi	ng Operations
Application DMO Prospect Manag	ement System
10 of 10 Files Currently	Selected
	Serected
<u>File Selection</u>	Initialize Files
	Derden nes
<u>C</u> reate Files	I <u>m</u> port Files
<u>R</u> estructure Files	<u>Export Files</u>
Re <u>b</u> uild Key Files	
	u
Convert from 1.8 Fo	rmat
This Software is the Valuable Trade Secret Pro	operty of APPX Software, Inc.
Copyright (c) 1990-1999 by APPX Software, 1	Inc. All Rights Reserved.
	, con j jobb conj olig

Figure E1.18 – Database Management Screen After Selecting Files

You could use the File Selection option to select just the four files that were changed. But, a wonderful feature of APPX is that it already knows which files need to be restructured, and will only restructure those four files. Therefore, leave all files selected and select the Restructure Files option. APPX restructures each of the selected files in turn and displays the status of each on the screen, giving you the option to print the restructure log if desired (*Figure E1.19*).

APPX Pr	rospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options	s <u>P</u> rocess Help	
122 🛛 🖄	a 🗳 8a 🍝 🗺	
Database Ma	nagement	? ✓ ×
	Deteless DMO Decels Menhating Operations	
	Annligation DMO Program Management System	
	Application DMO Prospect Management System	
Restruct	ure Files	
REBELAGE		
File	Status/Message	
ACTIVITY	Restructured	
ACTTYPE	Restructure Not Required	
CONTACT	Restructured	
COUNTRY	Restructure Not Required	
INDUSTRY	Restructure Not Required	
OPPORTUN	Restructured	
PARAM	Restructure Not Required	
PROSPECT	Restructured	
SALESREP	Restructure Not Required	
Print Lo	<u>g</u>	Complete
	U01 0DB 00	Inq

Figure E1.19 – Restructure Files Status Screen

- > Press ESC to exit the Restructure Files status screen.
- > Press ESC to exit to the Database Management menu
- Press ESC to exit to the APPX Application Design menu.

1.5 Checking Processes for Item Overlap

Having made the changes to the Data Dictionary and having restructured the affected files, the next step is to check that the expansion of the domain and of the fields that are based on the domain has not caused fields on screens or reports to overlap other fields or text in any of the processes in application DMO. Fortunately, APPX includes a **Check Images For Item Overlap** utility.

- > From the APPX Application Design menu select the Utilities option.
- From the **Utilities** menu select the **Toolbox** option.
- From the **Toolbox** menu select the **Check Images for Item Overlap** option.
- When you select this option you are presented with an **Options** screen (*Figure E1.20*). This screen prompts you to indicate whether or not you want APPX to flag items that are directly adjacent to other items (or text) on the image as errors. Accept the default value of Yes (✓) so you can manually review such occurrences of items and decide whether or not they need to be modified. Fields that overlap or that are too large and will no longer fit on the image will automatically be flagged as errors.



Figure E1.20 – Check Images for Item Overlap Options

Press ENTER to continue.

As APPX runs the check, it displays a status screen	(<i>Figure1.21</i>).
---	------------------------

📲 APPX P	rospect Management System				_ 🗆 ×
File Option	ns Help				
12 😣 🕹	a 🗳 8a 8a 8a				
Check Image	es For Item Overlap and Item Too Large Erro	rs			? ✓ ×
Process			Frame		
Туре	Process Name	Frame Class	Seq No	Img	Status
INPUT	ACTTYPE FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	100	1	Checked
INPUT	ACTTYPE FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	200	1	Checked
INPUT	CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	100	1	Checked
INPUT	CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	200	1	Checked
INPUT	COUNTRY FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	100	1	Checking
INPUT	COUNTRY FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	200	1	
INPUT	DISPLAY AUDIT INFO	RECORD	100	1	
INPUT	FOLLOWUP	RECORD	100	1	
INPUT	FOLLOWUP	RECORD	200	1	
INPUT	INDUSTRY FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	100	1	
INPUT	INDUSTRY FILE MAINTENANCE	RECORD	200	1	
INPUT	MARKETING ACTIVITY	RECORD	100	1	
INPUT	MARKETING ACTIVITY	RECORD	200	1	
_					5 of 37
			U01	DM	O 00 Inq/Scr

Figure E1.21 – Item Overlap Status

When the item overlap check is complete, a final status screen is displayed showing only those processes containing **errors**. Since there are not any errors that result from the change you made, a final status screen is not displayed. Instead, the **Toolbox** menu is redisplayed. If processes with errors are found, they are listed on the final status screen. For each error listed, APPX allows you to "drill down" to the actual image where the overlap is found and immediately rearrange the image to accommodate the longer items.

- > Press **ESC** to exit the **Toolbox** menu and return to the **Utilities** menu.
- > Press **ESC** to return to the **APPX Application Design** menu.

1.6 Testing Your Changes

- From the APPX Application Design menu, select the Run Test Database option to run the Prospect Management System and test your changes. Explore the application and confirm that the new field length is actually in effect.
- After you have finished testing the application, press ESC from the Prospect Management System menu to return to the APPX-Application Design menu.

1.7 Exercise 1 – Summary

So far, without any prior knowledge of the DMO application, you have:

- □ Identified the domain that is used to define prospect number data fields;
- □ Identified all fields that are based on the PROSPECT NO domain;
- □ Expanded the domain and all fields based on the definition of the domain from a four-digit to a five-digit numeric field;
- Restructured the four affected data files so that the existing data in these files was modified to match the new record structures;
- □ Checked all processes to determine that there were no item overlaps as a result of expanding the field sizes.
- **D** Tested the application to confirm that the changes work as anticipated.

These steps may have taken you ten or fifteen minutes to complete because you had to read and follow the instructions outlined in this guide.

An experienced APPX designer can perform these exact same steps in less than two minutes!

But...An experienced APPX designer who is also familiar with the DMO application can <u>confidently</u> complete the PROSPECT NO field length change in less than one minute.

Is there any other business application development environment you know of that can match this degree of productivity? There are no other changes that need to be made to the Prospect Management System Demo application to implement the change in length that you made to the prospect number field. The change is fully implemented. Not a single line of code had to be changed. Not a single screen or report had to be changed. The application, in its entirety, is still fully operational and fully implements the change in length made to the prospect number fields in four different files!

2.0 Exercise 2 - Adding New Fields to an Existing File

The management team at Dazzle would like to gather additional information on the type of prospects they are attracting. In particular they are interested in information relating to the software and operating systems currently being used by Dazzle's prospects, and also the number of users. To track this information, you are instructed to add three new fields to the PROSPECT file: Current Operating System, Current Software, and Current Number of Users.

2.1 Adding a TOKEN Field to a File

- > From the APPX Application Design menu, select the Database Management option.
- > From the **Database Management** menu, select the **Files** option.
- Select the PROSPECT file and then press ENTER to move to the Fields screen for the PROSPECT file. A quick way to accomplish this is to double click on PROSPECT in the scrolling file list. This will move you to the field level for the PROSPECT file as shown in *Figure E2.1* below.

🖁 APPX Prospect Management System										
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help										
1	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1									
Fields	(PROSPECT)				? ⊻×					
			Dsp		-Options					
Seq No	Field Name	Field Type	Seq	Format	T DL AA KC					
100	PROSPECT NO	DOMAIN 💌		9(5), Auto Seq	T DL AA P					
200	PROSPECT COMPANY NAME	ALPHA	1	X(30)	T A					
300	PROSPECT DIVISION NAME	ALPHA	1	X(30)	Т					
400	PROSPECT ADDRESS	DOMAIN		X(300)	Т					
500	PROSPECT ADDRESS 1	DOMAIN		X(30)	Т					
600	PROSPECT ADDRESS 2	DOMAIN		X(30)	Т					
700	PROSPECT CITY	DOMAIN	1	X(20)	Т					
800	PROSPECT REGION	DOMAIN		X(20)	Т					
900	PROSPECT POSTAL CODE	DOMAIN		X(20)	Т					
1000	PROSPECT COUNTRY	DOMAIN		X(15)	T DL					
1100	PROSPECT TELEPHONE	DOMAIN		X(20)	Т					
1200	PROSPECT FAX	DOMAIN		X(20)	Т					
1300	PROSPECT INDUSTRY TYPE	DOMAIN		X(18)	T DL					
	<u>T</u> oolbox <u>D</u> ata Look	up <u>A</u> dd'l A	Attribu	tes <u>K</u> ey Control						
				U01 DM	O OO Chg					

Figure E2.1 – Fields in the PROSPECT File

- > Change to Add Mode by pressing F9 or by clicking on the ¹/₂ button on the toolbar.
- APPX is now ready for you to enter the name of the first new field. Note that the file name has automatically been entered for you as a prefix for the Field Name (*Figure E2.2*). The inclusion of the file name as a prefix in the field name is the recommended field naming convention in APPX. Adopting this programming standard makes it simple to identify the file to which a field belongs and thus makes an application more easily maintainable. APPX automatically sets the file name into the field name to encourage the designer to adhere to its recommended programming standards with minimal effort. Of course, you can choose to override this default and enter any field name.

Sta A	PPX I	⁻ rospe	ct Ma	anag	eme	nt Sys	stem									_ 🗆 🗙
File	Optio	ins <u>P</u> ro	cess	: He	lp											
1	8	<u>ia</u> и	8.	≿ a ≀	5											
Fields	s		(PRC	OSPEC	CT)											? ⊻ ×
										Dsp					-Opt	ions
Seq	No	Field	Name	e			Fiel	d Typ	e	Seq	Forma	t			T DI	а ад КС
280	0	PROSPI	CT				DOMAI	N	-							
11																
11																
11																
11																
11																
11																
11																
11																
11																
11																
ľ																
		<u> </u>	lbox		<u>D</u> a	ita Loo	kup		<u>A</u> dd'l A	Attribu	tes		Key C	ontrol		
												U01		DM	2 00 0	bbA

Figure E2.2 – Adding a New Field to a File

Use the right arrow key or the End key to move to the end of the defaulted file name, press the Space Bar to append one space after the file name, and then enter "CURRENT O/S" (where O/S denotes Operating System) as the first new field name so it becomes PROSPECT CURRENT O/S. Note that the maximum length allowed for a field name in APPX is 22 characters.

Click on the 🖬 button to the right of the Field Type field to view the list of valid field types. Briefly, the available field types are:

- **DOMAIN**, which assumes the attributes that are predefined for an alphanumeric, date, logic, or numeric domain.
- *ALPHA*, for fields that can contain numbers, letters, and special characters (such as -, #, or &).
- FORMAT, for fields that will contain an edit mask, such as postal codes, phone numbers, or the like.
- *SYSTEM*, for fields that can contain a usage type.
- *TEXT*, for text fields.
- TOKEN, for fields with specific values that are stored as corresponding numbers.
- *NUMERIC*, for fields restricted to number, decimal (.), and sign (-) entries.
- DATE, for fields that contain dates and/or times, from a hundredth of a second through a century.
- LOGIC, for fields with possible values of yes (1), no (0), or a blank to represent an unknown value.
- SYNONYM, which provides an alternative name for referencing an existing APPX field.
- SUBSTRING, which represents a discrete portion of a longer alphanumeric field.
- *GROUP HEADER*, which marks the beginning and end of a group of fields.
- *GROUP TRAILER*, which is used to define the final field in a group of fields defined by a GROUP HEADER.
- Select the 'TOKEN' field type as shown in *Figure E2.3*. A TOKEN field type will enable you to define a list of valid values for this field, from which the user will be able to select at runtime. Using the Token field type ensures consistency in the data entered by users and will facilitate efficient data entry.

HAPP:	<pre>K Prospect Management Sy</pre>	stem		_ 🗆 ×
File Op	tions <u>P</u> rocess Help			
🖄 😣	🖆 📫 🖼 拓 🆄			
Fields	(PROSPECT)			? 🗸 🗙
			Dsp	-Options
Seq No	Field Name	Field Type	Seq Format	T DL AA KC
2800	PROSPECT CURRENT O/S	TOKEN		
	<u> </u>	kup <u>A</u> dd'l	Attributes <u>K</u>	ey Control
				DMO 00 Add

Figure E2.3 – Selecting the Field Type for a Field

> Press ENTER to save the information entered and move to the field specification screen.

APPX Prospe	ct Management Sy	stem		
File Options He	lp			
🖆 😣 눱 📫	89 169 169			
Fields	(PROSPECT)			? 🗸 🗙
			Dsp	-Options
Seq No Field	Name RCT crowswar	Field Type	Seq Format	T DL AA KC
2800 PROSP	(TOKEN) PRO	SPECT CURRENT O/S		Y ⊻ X
	Length	8		
1				
			j UU1	JUMO OU J Chg

Figure E2.4 – Entering the Field Length

> Enter 8 as the field length and then press **ENTER** to continue.

😹 APPX Prospect Mar	nagement System 📃 🗖 🗙
File Options Process	Help
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	5a 15a
Fielde /DDOG	
rielus (PRO2	
	Dsp -Options
2800 PROSPECT	Pield Type Seq Format T DL AA KC
د I	Length 8
	Lowercase OK?
1	Descriptive Current O/S
	Column Hdgs Current
	o/s
	Token Table <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes
	U01 DMO 00 Chg

Figure E2.5 – Entering Other Field Specifications

- Click on the 'Lowercase OK?' checkbox so the value changes to blank thus disallowing the entry of lowercase values.
- > Accept the defaulted values for the Descriptive and Column Heading fields by pressing ENTER to continue.

😹 APPX Prospect Mana	agement System		_ 🗆 ×
File Options Process H	Help		
🖆 😣 🖆 📫 🗞 🏠	1		
Fields (PROSP	PECT)		? ✓ ×
	Dsp		-Options
Seq No Field Name	Field Type Seq Fo	ormat	T DL AA KC
2800 PROSPECT (TOP	(EN) PROSPECT CURRENT O/S		? 🗸 🗙
			a
	oken Table	Y ⊻ X	
	Token Value	ID GA	
	WIN95	1	
	WIN98	2	
	WIN2K	3	
		4	
	GLII Attributos		
-			-
		U01	DMO 00 Add

Figure E2.6 – Entering Token Table Values

- You are now prompted to enter the valid values for your token field. Each value that you add will be allocated a unique sequence number by APPX. Enter WIN95 and press ENTER to save the Token value. Now enter the following Token values (pressing ENTER to save each one): WIN98, WIN2K, WINNT, IBM-AIX, HP/UX, LINUX, MAC, AS/400, and WANG VS. Feel free to enter additional values if you wish.
- > Press **ESC** to exit the token file once you have finished entering the list of Token values.

APPX Prospect Management S	ystem		_ 🗆 🗙
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help			
🖆 🛛 🖆 📫 😪 🏠 🏹			
PROSPECT CURRENT O/S	User Documentation		? ✓ ×
This field identifies the C	perating System that the	prospect is currentl	y 🔺
running.	<u>E</u> xternal Copy		Y
		U01 DMO 00	Add

Figure E2.7 – Entering User Documentation for a Field

- Enter some suitable documentation for the field on the User Documentation screen. Bear in mind that this is the Help Text that the users will see at runtime if they request Help on this field.
- > Press **ENTER** to complete the entry of the first new field.

2.2 Adding an ALPHA Field to a File

State Al	PPX	Prospect	t Manag	ement Sy	stem						_ 🗆	×
File	Opti	ons <u>P</u> roc	ess He	lp								
1	8	🍅 📫 🕅	ن ه ک ه	S								
Fields	\$	(PROSPEC	CT)							? 🗸	×
							Dsp				-Options	
Seq	No	Field M	Jame		Field	Туре	Seq	Format	5		T DL AA	кс
2800	0	PROSPEC	T CURRI	ent o/s	TOKEN			X(8),	Tbl			
2900)	PROSPEC	т		DOMAIN	•						
		<u> </u>		<u>D</u> ata Loc	ikup	<u>A</u> dd'l A	Attribu	tes	<u>K</u> ey	/ Control		
									UO1	DM	0 00 Add	

Figure E2.8 – Adding Another New Field to a File

- Now add the second field. Enter PROSPECT CURRENT S/W (with S/W representing Software) as the next field name.
- Select the ALPHA field type and press ENTER.
- > Enter 20 as the field length and leave the 'Lowercase OK?' field checked (meaning 'Yes').
- > Press ENTER to continue.
- > Enter the User Documentation and press ENTER to complete the entry of the second new field.

2.3 Adding a NUMERIC Field to a File

- > The name of the third field to add is **PROSPECT CURRENT USERS** (number of users).
- > Select the field type **NUMERIC** for this field and press **ENTER**.
- Enter 5 in the Digits Left field and 0 in the Digits Right field.
- > Accept the defaults for the remaining fields on the screen and press ENTER to continue.
- > Enter the User Documentation and press ENTER to the entry of the field.
- Figure E2.9 shows how the APPX screen should look once you have completed the entry of the last of the three new fields.

🚜 APPX Prospect Management System 📃 🗖 🗙								
File Optic	File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help							
🖆 🙆 🖆 🛱 🎦 🍊 🍯								
Fields	(PROSPECT)				? ✓ ×			
			Dsp		-Options			
Seq No	Field Name	Field Type	Seq	Format	T DL AA KC			
2800	PROSPECT CURRENT O/S	TOKEN		X(8), Tbl	T			
2900	PROSPECT CURRENT S/W	ALPHA		X(20)	T			
3000	PROSPECT CURRENT USERS	NUMERIC		9(5)	T			
3100	PROSPECT	DOMAIN						
					,			
	<u>T</u> oolbox <u>D</u> ata Look	kup <u>A</u> dd'l A	Attribu	tes <u>K</u> ey Contro				
					10 00 Add			

Figure E2.9 – The Fields Screen After Adding Three New Fields

- > Press ESC to exit the PROSPECT Fields screen.
- > Press **ESC** to exit the DMO **Files** screen.

2.4 Processing the Data Dictionary

As you exit the File screen, APPX automatically processes the Data Dictionary. Notice that Domains and the PROSPECT file are both processed. A status screen is shown following the processing of the Data Dictionary (*Figure E2.10*). If no error messages are displayed, then you know that the fields have been added successfully. If an error is displayed, then you will need to correct the problem indicated before continuing.

Star A	PPX	Pro	spe	ct M	ana	geme	ent S	Syste	m									_ 🗆	×
File	Opti	ons	He	lp															
1	8	č a	<u>u</u>	8.	<u>ک</u>	₩													
APP	(- Ap	plicat	tion I	Desig	n	_			-							-		? ✓	×
		_			_														
		:	Des:	ign	App	licat	io;	n D)MO 00	5	Prosp	ect	Manage	ment	Syst	em			
												Da	tabase M	lanage	ement		? v	/ ×	
								Da	tabase	a M	anagem	e							
				Proc	ess	Data D	ictiq	onary	(2 lte	ms	;)				? _	∕I×I	1		
				Se	q.	App		File	2	M	lessage								
				1		DMO-1		Denne		-									
				2		DMO-(DMO-(,0 10	PROS	ALINS SPECT	P	rocess	ed							
					Pri	int Loc		1							Complu	ete	ment-		
				_	<u> </u>	Pos	iti	ے on ۵.	Pres	s l	RETURN	to '	View De	etail	L		1		
	This	So	ftw									_					ſ		
	Co	pyr.	ight	; (c) 1	990-:	.999	9 by	APPX	So	ftware	/							
		_	_	_	_	_	_			-		_		U01			IDB 00	Cha	

Figure E2.10 – Data Dictionary Processing Status Screen

- > Press ESC to return to the Database Management menu.
- Since you have changed the structure of the PROSPECT file you must now restructure the existing data to match this new structure. Select File Management on the Database Management menu.
- Press ENTER to confirm the default database selection of DMO and to have APPX validate it and display the database description.

2.5 Restructuring Data Files

Select the **Restructure Files** option to restructure the **PROSPECT** file.

Following the restructure, a status screen is displayed showing that the **PROSPECT** file has been restructured and the status of the restructure (*Figure E2.11*).

👷 APPX Pr	rospect Management System 📃 🗖	×
File Option:	s <u>P</u> rocess Help	
122 🛛 🖄	a 📫 පිං ජිං ජිø	
Database Ma	nagement ? 🗸	×
	Database DMO Dazzle Marketing Operations	
	Application DMO Prospect Management System	
Restruct	ure Files	
File	Status /Magazza	
r IIC	Status/Message	
ACTIVITY	Restructure Not Required	
ACTTYPE	Restructure Not Required	
CONTACT	Restructure Not Required	
COUNTRY	Restructure Not Required	
INDUSTRY	Restructure Not Required	
OPPORTUN	Restructure Not Required	
PARAM	Restructure Not Required	
PROSPECT	Restructured	
SALESREP	Restructure Not Required	
Print Lo	g Comple	te
	U01 0DB 00 Inq	

Figure E2.11 – APPX File Restructure Status Screen

- > Press **ESC** to exit the File Restructure Status screen.
- > Press ESC twice to return to the APPX Application Design menu.

2.6 Exercise 2 – Summary

In this exercise, you have:

- □ Added three new fields to the PROSPECT file;
- □ Restructured the existing data files for database DMO;

At this point, the three new fields have been added to the PROSPECT file and the Prospect Management System is still fully operational. However, if any new prospect records are added to the PROSPECT file, the new fields will have their default values stored in the record since we have not yet provided an input process to allow entry of the field values.

3.0 Exercise 3 - Designing and Implementing a New Input Process

Having added three new fields to the PROSPECT file in *Exercise 2*, you must now provide your users with a means of entering data into these fields. For the purposes of this tutorial, rather than adding the fields to an existing Input Process (which would be a trivial exercise), you will create a new, pop-up Input Process that can be run on demand from the Prospects input process.

In this exercise, you will create a pop-up input process like the one show below in Figure E3.1.

APPX Prospect Management System	
Current System Information ? <	
Current O/S	
Current S/W	
Current # Licore	
OK Cancel	
, x=41, y=10	U01 DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.1 – Pop-up Input Process for "Current System Information" Fields

3.1 Design a New Input Process

The APPX Input Processes utility can be used to design a new input process for the Prospect Management System.

- > From the APPX Application Design menu, select Process Management.
- From the **Process Management** menu, select **Input**.

The **Input Processes** screen will be displayed as shown in *Figure E3.2* below. The **Input Processes** utility can be used to design and maintain input processes for the Prospect Management System.

🖁 APPX Prospect Management System 📃 🗖 🗙							
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help							
Input Processes		? ✓ ×					
	PCF	-Opts-					
Process Name	App File	TRAA					
ACTTYPE FILE MAINTENANCE	DMO ACTTYPE B	TRAA					
CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE	DMO CONTACT	TR					
COUNTRY FILE MAINTENANCE	DMO COUNTRY	TRAA					
DISPLAY AUDIT INFO		TRAA					
FOLLOWUP	DMO OPPORTUN	TRAA					
INDUSTRY FILE MAINTENANCE	DMO INDUSTRY	TRAA					
MARKETING ACTIVITY	DMO ACTIVITY	TR					
MARKETING ACTIVITY - DETAILS	DMO ACTIVITY	TR					
PARAMETERS FILE MAINTENANCE	DMO PARAM	Т					
PROSPECT ADDRESS	DMO PROSPECT	Т					
PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE	DMO PROSPECT	T R AA					
SALES OPPORTUNITIES	DMO OPPORTUN	TR					
SALES OPPORTUNITIES - DETAILS	DMO OPPORTUN	T R AA					
<u> </u>	<u>R</u> ules <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes						
	U01 DMO 00	Chg					

Figure E3.2 – Input Processes for Application DMO

- Since you want to define a new input process, press F9 or click on the button on the APPX toolbar to move into Add Mode.
- Enter "PROSPECT CURRENT SYSTEM INFO" in the Process Name field. This will be the name of the new input process that you are adding.

The application ID of "DMO" has already been entered into the PCF App field for you.

Enter "PROSPECT" in the PCF File field. The PROSPECT file is the name of the PCF (Process Control File) that will be maintained by this input process.

APPX Prospect Management Sys	stem	_ 🗆 ×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help		
🖆 😣 🛅 📫 🖼 🏧 🏧		
Input Processes		? ✓ ×
	PCF	-Opts-
Process Name	App File	T R AA
PROSPECT CURRENT SYSTEM INFO	DMO PROSPECT	
P		
<u>T</u> oolbox	<u>R</u> ules <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes	
	U01 DMO 00	Add

Figure E3.3 – Adding a New Input Process

- Press ENTER to move to the User Documentation screen and enter documentation text for this process as shown in *Figure E3.4* below.
- Press ENTER to save your documentation and move to the Frames screen for the new input process. Note: If you have entered more than one line of documentation, you may need to press ENTER a second time.



Figure E3.4 – Input Process Documentation

APPX input processes always have one or more frames. A frame defines a region on a screen within which an image will be presented for displaying and/or entering data. Each frame will have one or more images defined.

- Enter "0" (zero) in the Row Position field and "0" (zero) in the Column Position field. Zero values in these fields instruct APPX to center the pop-up input process on the screen when invoked. Of course you could just as easily specify your own coordinates for the positioning of the pop-up input process on the screen, but why not let APPX do the work for you?
- > Enter "10" as the Row Size and "40" as the Column Size.
- Click on the Box field until it is checked. Checking this field tells APPX to draw a border box around your frame/image before it is displayed to the user.
- > Accept the defaults for all other fields on the **Frames** screen and press **ENTER** to move to the **Images** screen.

🚜 APPX Prospect Management System													
File Optio	File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help												
🖄 😣	ta 🗳 😪	Ka Ka											
Input Proce	Input Processes ? ✓ ×												
Process	Name- PR	OSPECT CURRE	NT SY	STE	M INF	'0							
Frames													
			D				D 1	g		22.1			
Seg No	Descripti	ve	Posit: Row Co	ion il	BOW	er Col	Dspi Onlw?	Type	Box	Mul	т в	AA AP	GA
100	Prospect	Current Sys	0 0		10	40	 ✓ 	NONE -					
,												_	
.	Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Automatic Processes												
				<u>G</u> UI	Attribu	ites							
								U01			MO 0	D Ad	d

Figure E3.5 – Input Processes – Frames

Each Input Process **Frame** may have one or more **Images**. If there is more than one Image defined for a Frame, the Images are referred to as **Alternate Images**. However, only one image will actually be displayed at runtime. The image displayed will depend on the image selection criteria.

Your input process will have a single image. Notice that the **Descriptive** field has already been filled in for you in *Figure E3.6*.

Each Image can have GUI attributes specified. GUI attributes can be specified for a Titlebar and for other window features such as a wallpaper image, background color, and border style.

APPX Prospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help	
ත් 😣 🛅 📫 පිං ජය ජය	
Input Processes	? ✓ ×
Process Name- PROSPECT CURRENT SYSTEM INFO	
Frames	
Frame Seq No- 100 Description- Prospect Current System	Info
Images	
Ing	Options
No Descriptive	T R AA OP GA
1 Prospect Current System Info	
Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Optional Processe	is
	bbA 00 OMC

Figure E3.6 – Input Processes – Images

For this Input Process Image, you would like to specify the attributes for a titlebar. Select GUI Attributes to access the Window Properties screen for this image.

Figure E3.7 shows the Window Properties screen for the image. Enter "Current System Information" as the Title for the titlebar. Simply specifying the text for the title is sufficient for APPX to know that you want a titlebar displayed for the pop-up input process screen image you are designing.

Sa A	PPX Pro	ospect Management System	⊐×
File	Options	Help	
1	😣 🖾		
Win	dow Prop	perties ? 🗸	×
	[Titlebar	r Options	1
	Title:	Current System Information Alignment	
	Font:	Style: Scale: T	
	Buttons	s: 🛛 Help? 🖓 Ok? 🖓 Close? Text: 🚺 Titlebar: 🔟	
	- 	v Options	,
	Border:	: Border Color:	
	Wallpap	aper Tiling Mode: 🗾 💽 Background: 🗖 Transparent? Color: 📃	
	Name:	Resources:	
	I	<u></u>	ן נ
		<u>Save</u> <u>Cancel</u>]
-			łd

Figure E3.7 – Input Process Titlebar

> Press ENTER or click on the Save button to save the Window Properties and return to the Images screen.

Upon returning from **GUI Attributes**, you notice that the '**GA**' indicator has been set. This is APPX's way of telling you that you have specified at least one GUI Attribute for this image.

From the Images screen, press ENTER to access the Image Editor where you will be able to design the actual layout of the screen.

R APPX Prospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help	
🖆 😣 🖆 📫 🖼 🏷 🆄	
Input Processes	? V×
Process Name- PROSPECT CURRENT SYS	STEM INFO
Frames	
Frame Seq No- 100 Descrip	tion- Prospect Current System Info
Images	
Img	Options
No Descriptive 1 Prospect Current System Info	T K AA OF GA GA
Taalbay Bulas A	dd" Attributes Optional Processes
	<u>a</u> UI Attributes
	 DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.8 – The Images Screen After Entering GUI Attributes

The APPX Image Editor allows you to visually layout the screen exactly as the user will see it at runtime.

R APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Help	
1 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Current System Information	
	U01 DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.9 – The APPX Image Editor

Note that the image editor has displayed a "blank" pop-up screen image in *Figure E3.9* which already includes the titlebar that you just defined and that the standard Help, OK and Close buttons have been added to the titlebar. Your task is to now use the APPX Image Editor to add various GUI widgets such as labels, fields, and buttons to the screen image As you will soon see, this is very easily done.

The image editor toolbar provides buttons for defining various types of "static" GUI widgets (buttons, labels, pictures, and frames). As you will see later, data fields that you add to an image can be represented by a variety of GUI control types depending on the underlying field type.

The order in which you add widgets (GUI objects) to the image is not important. But, for the purposes of this demo, we will add widgets in the following order:

Labels
 Fields
 Buttons

> First, you need to add a Label for each of the three data fields that are to be placed on the image. Label widgets are

used to add static or non-modifiable text to the screen. First, click on the Label tool () on the toolbar. Then, position the mouse pointer to the point on the screen image where you would like to place the top left corner of the label, click, and, holding the left mouse button down, drag out a rectangle representing the approximate size you would like for the label. Release the mouse button and the Label Properties screen will pop up *(Figure E3.10 below)*.

- The Label field is used to specify the text that is to appear on the screen. For your first label, enter "Current O/S".
- > For **Text Position** you will specify "**RIGHT**" so that the label text will be right justified within the label control.
- > The only other field you will change on this screen is the Font Option Scale, which you will set to 90%.
- There are several other fields on the Label Properties screen that you will leave blank at this time. For example, you could specify a preferred font, font style, text color, label fill color or label border. When widget fields are left blank APPX will apply default attributes when the item is displayed. It is often advantageous to specify as few GUI properties and let APPX determine appropriate default values.

APPX Prospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options Help	
🖆 🔕 🖆 📫 🖼 🏝 🏍	
Label Properties	? V X
-Control Options	
Label: Current O/S	
Text Position: RIGHT	
Icon Position: Margin:Top: Bot:	Left: Right:
Resource:	
Tooltip:	
Font Options	Tab Order Options
Font:	Tab Level:
Style: Color:	Tab Group:
Scale: 90%	
Uther Uptions	Micro Adjustments
Fill Color:	Row. Height.
Name:	
	<u>Save</u> <u>Cancel</u>
	U01 DMO 00 Add

Figure E3.10 – 'Current O/S' Label Properties

Click on the **Save** button or press **ENTER** to save the Label.

You are returned to the Image Editor. The label text is displayed on the screen image (Figure E3.11).

Note: If you would like to see an outline showing the size of your labels (as shown in *Figure E3.11* below), click on the **Show Object Bounds** toolbar button to turn on this feature. This outline will not be visible to users at runtime.

R APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Help	
🖆 😣 🕟 🗕 🕯 🛍 🗂 🗔 🖉 🖄 🛍	西島同時山
Current System Information	
Current O/S	
	Show Object Bounds Toolbar Button
	Border Around Label
x=41. v=3	UD1 DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.11 – Input Process Image After Adding First Label Widget

Note: After adding a label widget, you can click on the label to select it and you can use you mouse to reposition or resize the label on the screen image.

> Repeat these steps to add labels for **Current S/W** and **Current #Users**.

After adding all three labels, your screen image should look like the image shown in *Figure E3.12* below.

R APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Help	
🖆 😣 🕟 🗆 4 🔜 🗂 🗔 🕬 🗶 🖻	
Current System Information	
Current O/S	
Current S/W	
Current#Users	
x=41, y=10	U01 DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.12 – Input Process Image After Adding Three Label Widgets

> The next step is to define the appropriate fields on the image. APPX conveniently includes a **Data Palette** which can be used to quickly "drag and drop" data fields from a list to the point on the image where you would

like them to be positioned. To open the Data Palette, select the **Data Palette** icon **Palette** icon on the APPX toolbar.

You are presented with a Data Palette displaying a list of APPX applications from which to select (*Figure E3.13*). You can resize and/or move the Data Palette window at any time to make viewing the file and field lists easier.

APPX Data Palette	_ 🗆 ×
🔄 APPX Data Objects	
🖻 💼 0AD	
🗼 🖻 💼 ODB	
🗄 💼 0DN	
🗄 💼 0DO	
🗄 💼 OLA	
🗄 💼 0SA	
🗄 💼 1EX	
🗄 💼 APL	
🗄 💼 DMO	

Figure E3.13 – APPX Data Palette - Applications

Click on the "+" symbol to the left of the DMO folder icon (or double-click on DMO) to open the DMO folder. A list of all of the files in the DMO application is displayed as shown in *Figure E3.14* below.

📲 APPX Data Palette	_ 🗆 ×
APPX Data Objects APPX Data Objects APPX Data Objects AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD AD A	

Figure E3.14 – APPX Data Palette - Files

- > Select the **PROSPECT** file so the fields in that file are displayed.
- ▶ Use the Scroll bar to move to the end of the PROSPECT field listing. (*Figure E3.15*)



Figure E3.15 – APPX Data Palette - Fields

- Click on the PROSPECT CURRENT O/S field and, holding the left mouse button down, drag the field across your desktop and onto your screen image in the APPX Image Editor window and position it next to the Current O/S label. When the field is positioned where you want it, release the left mouse button and APPX will add the data field to the screen image. If you need to reposition the field at any time simply click on the field to select it and, holding down the left mouse button, drag the field to the desired position. You should not need to resize the field since APPX will have sized it according to the Data Dictionary specifications for the field.
- Repeat this process for both the PROSPECT CURRENT S/W field and the PROSPECT CURRENT USERS field, dragging each of them onto the screen image and positioning them next to their respective labels.
- Once all three fields have been added to your image, click on the × in the top right corner of the APPX Data Palette window to close it since you are done with it.

Back on your input image, if necessary, click on the labels and fields and drag them to appropriate positions on the image so they are aligned (*Figure E3.16*).

APPX Prospect Management System		_ 🗆 ×
File Options Help		,
Current System Information ? V ×		
Current O/S		
Current S/W		
Current#Users		
x=41, y=9	U01	DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.16 – Label & Field Alignment

Next, you need to add an **OK** button and a **Cancel** button.

You decide to add the OK button first. Begin by selecting the button tool () on the toolbar. Then, position the mouse pointer to the point on the screen image where you would like to place the top left corner of the OK button, click, and, holding the left mouse button down, drag out a rectangle representing the approximate size you would like for the button. Release the mouse button and the Button Properties screen will be displayed (*Figure E3.17 below*).

Notice how similar this screen is to the **Label Properties** screen. One the many advantages of APPX is the consistent designer interface which allows new developers to become proficient very quickly.

APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Help	
🖆 🥝 🖆 🖻 🖼 🏷 🏹	
Button Properties	? ✓ ×
Control Options	
Label:	Shortcut:
Option: Margin:Top:	Bot: Left: Right:
Text Positio	
Icon Positi Rollover BG:	Disabled B
Resource:	Transparent? 🔋 Default Button?
Tooltip:	
Font Options	
Font:	Tab Level:
Style: Color:	Tab Group:
Sca	
Text Color:	
Fill Color:	r? Col: Width:
Name:	Saura Connent
	U01 DMO 00 Add

Figure E3.17 – Button Properties Screen

- > The first button that you are going to define is the OK button so, in the Label field, enter "OK".
- The Shortcut field is the hotkey for this button. Enter the letter, "O". This will enable the user to press Alt + O to save the record in addition to clicking on the OK button or pressing ENTER.
- The Option field is the APPX Option that will be sent when this button is clicked. You can scan on the field to make a selection from the list of available Options. Since the button that you are defining is the OK button, the Option value that you want to select is RETURN (which is the same as pressing the ENTER key).

- On the Button Properties screen you can define a rollover color for the button, change the text font, or do many other things, but for the purposes of this tutorial you can leave all other fields at their default values.
- Click on the Save button on the Button Properties screen to create the button.
- Now add a Cancel button. Enter "Cancel" in the Label field, "C" as the Shortcut, and "CANCEL" as the APPX Option to be sent when the button is clicked. Click on the Save button to create the button.
- > Your input image should now look something like the image shown in *Figure E3.18*.

R APPX Prospect Management System		_ 🗆 ×
File Options Help		
🖄 😣 🕟 🗆 🖪 🗂 💭 🔛 × 🖻 🛍 💣 11 🔟 🗉 3	当亚世	
Current System Information ? 🗸 🗙		
Current O/S		
Current S/W		
Current # Users		
<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel</u>		
x=41, y=10	U01	DMO 00 Add/Mod

Figure E3.18 – Completed Input Image

- > Your new input process is now complete.
- > Press F8 or ESC to save the image and return to the Frames screen.
- > Press ESC to return to the Input Processes screen.

3.2 Adding an Optional Process

At this point, you have successfully created a new input process. But, there is no way for the user to run it. So, you now need to link this new input process to the existing Prospect Maintenance input process so it can be optionally run by a user while maintaining prospect records.

In this section of the exercise, you will add an **Optional Child** specification to the **PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE** input process and you will add a button on the image which will allow users to run the Optional Child.

- From the Input Processes screen, click on the input button on the Toolbar (or press F12) to move into Change Mode and then press ENTER to display all input processes.
- > Scroll through the Input Processes list and select the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE input process.
- > Press ENTER to access the Frames screen.
- > Press ENTER to access the Images screen.
- The first task is to find an available option number that can be used to invoke your new input process. To review the existing **Optional Child Processes** for the **PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE** input process to determine which option numbers are available, click on the **Optional Processes** button.
- > A scrolling list of the existing **Optional Child Processes** is displayed (*Figure E3.19*).

File Options Process Help Imput Processes Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE Prame Seq No- 100 Image No- 1 Opt Process No App Type Name ID T R CC GUI Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes	Sa Al	PXI	Prospect Mana	gement System		_ 0	I ×
Imput Processes ? Imput Processes Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE Frame Seq No- 100 Image No- 1 Opt Process Process Process Opt Process No App Type Name ID T Process Process Coptional Child Processes Opt Process No App Type Name ID T R CC GUI INPUT AA CC A CC GA A DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC A DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC SO DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GUI Attributes Child Constraints QUI Attributes Child Constraints	File	Optic	ons <u>P</u> rocess H	elp			
Input Processes ? Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE Prame Seq No- 100 Image No- 1 Optional Child Processes Child No App Type Name ID T R ACC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT Sales OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 3 DMO INPUT Sales OPPORTUNITIES R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GUI Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes Child Constraints Use Query <th>1</th> <th>8</th> <th>🍐 📫 🗞 🛵</th> <th>শ্ব</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	1	8	🍐 📫 🗞 🛵	শ্ব			
Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE Frame Seq No- 100 Image No- 1 Optional Child Processes Opt Process Process ChildOptions No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA	Input	Input Processes ? ✓ ×					
Frame Seq No- 100 Image No- 1 Optional Child Processes Opt Process No App Type Name 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GUI Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes	Proc	cess	Name- PROSPI	ECT FILE MAINTENANCE			
Image No- 1 Optional Child Processes Child Options No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 3 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA 100 Rules Add'l Attributes Child Constraints Use Query	Fra	ne Se	eq No- 100				
Optional Child Processes Process Child Options No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA	Imag	ge No	o- 1				
Optional Child Processes Opt Process Process Child Options No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA <u>Child Constraints< Use Query</u> GUI Attributes Child Constraints Use Query							
Opt Process Child Options No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA <u>Child Constraints< Use Query</u> <u>GUI Attributes</u> <u>Child Constraints</u> Use Query	Opt	tions	al Child Proc	esses			
Opt Process Process Child Options No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA Index Add'l Attributes Child Constraints Use Query							
Opt Process Process Child Options No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA			-	-			
No App Type Name ID T R AA CC UQ GA 1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA <u>Toolbox</u> <u>R</u> ules <u>A</u> dd'l Attributes <u>C</u> hild Constraints <u>U</u> se Query	Opt		Process	Process	Child	Options	
1 DMO INPUT CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE R CC GA 2 DMO INPUT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA Toolbox Rules Add'I Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes	NO	App	Туре	Name	ID	T R AA CC UQ	GA
2 DMO INPOT MARKETING ACTIVITY AA CC GA 3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA <u>Toolbox</u> <u>Rules</u> <u>Add'I Attributes</u> <u>Child Constraints</u> <u>Use Query</u> <u>GUI Attributes</u>		DMO	INPUT	CONTACTS FILE MAINTENANCE		R CC	GA
3 DMO INPUT SALES OPPORTUNITIES Image: CC GA 50 DMO INPUT PROSPECT ADDRESS R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA <u>Toolbox</u> <u>Rules</u> <u>Add'l Attributes</u> <u>Child Constraints</u> <u>Use Query</u> <u>GUI Attributes</u>	2	DMO	INPUT	MARKETING ACTIVITY			GA
S0 DMO INFUT PROSPECT ADDRESS INFUT R CC GA 60 DMO SUBROUTINE DISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA	50	DMO	INPUT	SALES OPPORTUNITIES			GA
BUILDED BISPLAY WEB PAGE R AA GA 97 DMO JOB PROSPECT LISTING AA GA Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes	50	DMO	INPUT	PROSPECT ADDRESS		R CC	GA
Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes	60	DMO	JOBROUTINE	DISPLAY WEB PAGE			GA
Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes	197	DMO	008	PROSPECT LISTING		AA	GA
		Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Child Constraints Use Query GUI Attributes				ו	
					101	DMO 00 Leh	

Figure E3.19 – Optional Child Processes Listing

From the listing you can see that the first three optional child processes have been assigned option numbers 1 through 3. Use the scroll bar (which appears as you move your cursor towards the far right column) to move through the existing optional processes. You will see that there are quite a few optional child processes already defined. But, since option number 4 has not been assigned, you can add your optional process as option number 4.

- > Press F9 to move into Add Mode so you can add a new Optional Child Process.
- Select the **Opt No** field and enter the digit "4".
- Select the Process Type field and enter "INPUT". You can use the button to view a list of valid process types and select INPUT or you can simply press the letter "I" and INPUT will be automatically entered in the Process Type field.
- Select the Process Name field and enter "PROSPECT CURRENT SYSTEM INFO" (the name of the new input process you just created). If that is not what you called your input process or if you are having trouble remembering its name, simply press F2 (SCAN) to view a list of all processes from which you can select the desired one.
- ▶ Press ENTER to continue and you are presented with a Child Constraints screen (*Figure E3.20*).
| APPX Prospect Management System | |
|---|------|
| File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help | |
| 🖄 🔕 🛅 🖻 🖼 🏧 | |
| Input Processes | |
| | |
| | |
| Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE | |
| Frame Seq No- 100 | |
| Optional Child Processes ? | ✓× |
| | |
| | |
| Child Opt No- 4 Child- INPUT DMO PROSPECT CURRENT SYSTEM I. | NFO |
| Child Constraints | |
| | |
| | |
| Seq Child PCF | Opts |
| No App Field Name Occ App Field Name or Constant Occ | T |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| <u>T</u> oolbox | |
| | |
| U01 DMO 00 / | Add |

Figure E3.20 – Optional Process Child Constraints

- Child Constraints allow the APPX application designer to define the set of records that are to be maintainable by the child process. Remember that the input process you designed identified the PROSPECT file as the file that would be maintainable when the child constraint is used to define the set of records in the PROSPECT file that will be maintainable when the child process is run. The left-hand side of the child constraint specification must always be a field in the Process Control File (PCF) of the child process that is to be run. The right-hand side of the child constraint specification must be a field within the parent process or a constant value. For your purposes, you want to specify that the child process is to maintain the exact same PROSPECT record as the parent process. So you need to constrain the data selection using the PROSPECT NO field. Both the parent process and the child process have the same Process Control File (PCF) which is the PROSPECT file. In the left-hand Application "DMO" and Field Name "PROSPECT NO". In the right hand Application ID field enter "DMO" and in the right hand Field Name or Constant field enter "PROSPECT NO". Note that the right hand Field Name/Constant accepts lowercase characters since a constant value may be in lowercase. However, if you enter an application ID and type a field name, the field name will automatically be converted to uppercase.
- > Press ENTER to save the Child Constraint.

Figure E3.21 shows how your Child Constraint should look.

APPX Prospect Management System	m _ 🗆 🗙
File Options Process Help	
1 😣 🖆 📫 🔁 🏧 🚳	
Input Processes	? 🗸 🗙
Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAIL	NTENANCE
Frame Seq No- 100	
Image No- 1	
Optional Child Processes	? 🗸 🗙
Child Opt No- 4 Child	- INPUT DMO PROSPECT CURRENT SYSTEM INFO
Child Constraints	
Child Constraints	
Seq Child PCF	Opts
No App Field Name	Occ App Field Name or Constant Occ T
100 DMO PROSPECT NO	= DMO PROSPECT NO
200 DMO PROSPECT	
	<u>T</u> oolbox
	j UU1 j j DMO 00 j Add

Figure E3.21 – Child Constraint Record

- > Press ESC to exit Child Constraints.
- Press ESC to exit the Optional Child Processes list and return to the Image level of the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE input process.
- Next you need to add a button to the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE image so your users can select this new Optional Process. You can create the button just as you did when you defined the Save and Cancel buttons on the image of your recently added input process. Press ENTER to move from the Image level of the input process to the image itself.
- > Rather than spend time moving items around the image to make room for another button, you can simply add your

new button at the bottom of the image between the GoTo and the Save buttons. Select the \Box (button) icon on the toolbar. Place the cursor somewhere between the GoTo and Save buttons and drag out an area for the button.

- > When you release the mouse button, the **Button Properties** screen is displayed.
- > In the Label field type Current System Setup.

- Specify U as the Shortcut key. Note that each shortcut key on an image must be unique and, since there are already a number of buttons defined on the current image, many shortcut keys have already been assigned to other processes. Specifically, the letter 'C' has been assigned to the Cancel button.
- Enter USER 4 as the Option to be sent when this button is clicked. The Option number that you select must match the Option Number field that was entered when the Optional Process was added.
- In the Tooltip field enter a description for this option. The text that you enter in this field will be displayed when the user positions the mouse cursor on this button.
- > Leave all other fields at their default values and click **Save** to create the button.
- You are returned to the Prospects screen. Now adjust your new button size and position to suit your requirements. Note that you can right-click on one of the other buttons on the screen, select Object Properties, and investigate how other designers have defined buttons on this image. Your final image should look something like the image in *Figure E3.22*.

APPX Prospect Management System
File Options Help
Prospects ? V X
Prospect Name/Address
Prospect No Title C Title C
Division Last CONTACT LAST
Position CONTACT POSITION
Address
Prospect Demographic Information # Employees # Locations Industry
Related Information
Salesrep Contacts 👬 Activities 🎦 Sales Opport.
First Record 🕹 GoTo 🖒 Current System Info Save 📝 Cancel
x=71, y=22 U01 DMO 00 Chg

Figure E3.22 – Prospect Maintenance screen with new button

- > Press **F8** or **ESC** to save and exit the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE image.
- Now you need to test the process to ensure that the defined button is active and the correct process is invoked. There are a number of ways in which you can invoke this process. The first is to exit right back to the APPX startup menu, select Run (instead of Design), enter DMO as the Database, press ENTER so the Prospect Main Menu

is invoked and, from there, click on the Prospects button. The second is to exit back to the APPX Application Design menu (where you have already specified DMO/00 as the Application), click on the Run Test Database button, enter DMO as the Database, press ENTER so the Prospect Main Menu is displayed and, from there, click on the Prospects button. Yet another method is to click on the Toolbox option from the Image level (or the Frame or Process level) of the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE process and, on the Toolbox menu, select the Invoke a Process option. The screen displayed is that shown in *Figure E3.23* below. APPX automatically defaults the database ID, application ID, process type and process name so you simply press ENTER to invoke the process.

By far the simplest and quickest way to test this process is to use **Option 99** (`**'99**) while you are positioned at the Process, Frame or Image level of PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE. APPX automatically defaults the database ID (DMO), application ID (DMO 00), process type (INPUT) and process name (PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE) so you simply press ENTER to invoke the process (*Figure E3.21*). Option 99 is available throughout APPX Application Design for testing processes directly rather than running a menu and then invoking the process to be tested.

APPX Prospect Management System
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help
🖆 🥝 🛅 🖻 🖼 🏧
Input Processes
Process Name- PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE
Invoke a Process
Frame
App/Ver DMO 00 # Prospect Management System
Database ID DMO M Dazzle Marketing Operations
No De Process Name PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE
1 Pr R OP GA
Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Optional Processes
<u>G</u> UI Attributes
J UD1 DMO 00 Chg

Figure E3.23 – Invoke a Process

- When the Prospects screen is displayed, press ENTER to display the first record in the file. Alternatively, of course, you could enter a Company Name and press ENTER to display a particular record, use the icon next to the Company Name field to scan the PROSPECT file and select a record from the displayed list or use the GoTo button to go to a particular record.
- Having selected a record, click on the Current System Setup button and your new input process is displayed. Add some data in the system setup fields and check to ensure that both your Save and Cancel buttons are working

correctly. Note that the Current O/S field has a button to the right of it (*Figure E3.24*). That is because it was defined as a Token type field with a list of valid values.

APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Help	
🖄 😆 🖆 📽 🎦 🏹	
Prospects	? V X
Prospect Name/Address	Primary Contact Information
Prospect No. 4	Title Ms.
Company Name Greenbelt Software, Inc.	First Mary
Division Home C 300 De Suite Current System Information Suite Current O/S L Current S/W W Current S/W W Current # Users W Frospect Demographic In # Employees 15	? A INUX Image: Constraint of the second sec
	te 🎎 Activities 🎲 Salas Opport 📄
Conference Paran Conference Confe	
Next Record GoTo Current 8	ystem info
	U01 DMO DMO 00 Chg

Figure E3.24 – Current System Setup

- For the purposes of the next exercise update the Current System Setup fields for each Prospect record. Once you have entered this information, use the Save button to save the record and return to the main Prospect Maintenance screen. Use the Next Record button or F5 to move through the Prospect records.
- Once all records have been updated and you are back on the main Prospects Maintenance screen, click on Cancel to exit the currently selected record.
- Click Close to exit the Prospects Maintenance process and return to input process maintenance.
- > Press **ESC four times** to return to the main APPX Application Design Menu.

4.0 Exercise 4 - Creating a New Report

In Exercise 2 you added three new fields to the Prospect file for storing information regarding a prospect's current system. In Exercise 3 you designed a pop-up input process to allow entry of this information. You now need to create a report that prints this information. You could design a new report in much the same way that you created the new input process in *Exercise 3*, but instead you decide to take advantage of one of APPX's report generation utilities to create the report. The report generation utilities can be used to very quickly create a report by simply providing a few simple specifications.

When you create this new report you will in fact be creating three new APPX processes:

- A **Query Process** that allows the user to select the records that will be included in the report at runtime and that determines the sort order and control breaks for data in the report.
- An **Output Process** that defines the report layout.
- A **Job Process** that defines the sequence of processes to run by instructing APPX to first run the query process and then run the output process.

4.1 Using the Standard Output Utility to Generate a Report

- From the **APPX Application Design** menu select the **Utilities** option.
- From the Utilities menu select the Toolbox option.
- Under the Process Generation heading on the Toolbox menu, select the Standard Output option to display the Generate 'Standard' Output Process setup screen as shown in *Figure E4.1*.

APPX Prospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help	
🖆 🥝 🖆 📫 🖼 🏷 🏷	
Generate 'Standard' Output Process	? ✓ ×
The generated Output Process is line oriented.	
Only the first occurrence of a Field is made available.	
File Name	
fortune Verse	
Job Name	
Query Name	
Report Title Report Width 80	
Edit Field/Item Generation Seg & Column Headings	
U01 DMO 00	Chg

Figure E4.1 – Generate 'Standard' Output Process

- Enter PROSPECT in the File Name field since this file will be the control file for the processes that will be generated.
- Enter PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS into the Output Name field. This is the name that will be assigned to the Output process that will be generated. Since you want the Job and Query processes to also have the same name as the Output process, use your mouse to select the contents of the Output Name field and press CTRL + C to copy the name.
- Select the **Job Name** field and press **CTRL** + **V** to paste the copied text.
- Select the Query Name field and press CTRL + V to paste the copied text.
- Select the **Report Title** field and enter the title that you want to be displayed on the top of each page of the report.
- Leave the **Report Width** field set at 80. Since you will only be including a few fields from the PROSPECT file on your report, 80 characters will be sufficient.
- > Press Enter and APPX will validate the File Name and display the file description next to the File Name field.

Your screen should now look like the screen shown below in Figure E4.2.

📲 APPX Prospect Ma	nagement System	⊐×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess	Help	
🖄 🙆 ៉ 📫 😪 १	5a 56a	
Generate 'Standard' Outpu	t Drocase 2	
Generate Stanuaru Outpu		
The generated Ou	tput Process is line oriented.	
Only the first o	ccurrence of a Field is made available.	
File Name	PROSPECT M Prospects	
Output Nome	DEOSDECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS	
Job Name	PROSPECT SISTEM INFO DETAILS	
Query Name	PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS	
		_
Report Title	Prospect Current System Information Details	-1
Report Width	80	
	Edit Field/Item Generation Seq & Column Headings	
		ig

Figure E4.2 – Completed Output Generation Screen

Select the Edit Field/Item Generation Seq & Column Headings option. This will allow you to select the fields to be included in the Query process record selection criteria, the Query process sort order, and on the report itself.

APPX Prospect Manageme	nt System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options Help		
🖆 😣 🖆 📫 🖼 🏧 🍇		
PROSPECT Edit Field/Item Genera	ntion Seq & Descriptive	? ✓×
Gen Column	Query Field	Field
Seq Headings	? Format	Name
1 Prospect	= 29(6), Auto Seq	PROSPECT NO
2 Company Name	2 x (30)	PROSPECT COMPANY NAME
3 Division Name	🛛 🛛 🛛 🖓 (30)	PROSPECT DIVISION NAME
4 Address	📃 🗹 x (300)	PROSPECT ADDRESS
<u>Clear All 'Gen Seq' Fields</u>		Field Count- 27 Fields Used- 27
,		U01 DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.3 – Edit Field/Item Generation Seq & Descriptive Screen

> Click on the Clear All 'Gen Seq' Fields so the currently selected fields are deselected.

The only fields that you want to include in the report are **PROSPECT NO**, **PROSPECT COMPANY NAME** and the three new fields that you added to the **PROSPECT** file in relation to the current system setup information.

- > Enter a 1 in the Gen Seq number field for the PROSPECT NO field.
- In the Column Heading field, define how you would like the heading for the PROSPECT NO field to appear on the report.
- In the Query? field to the right of the Column Heading field, click on the field so that it is 'checked'. This means that the PROSPECT NO field will be included as a record selection option when running the query and will also be available as a data sort item.
- Now move to the Gen Seq number field for PROSPECT COMPANY NAME field and enter the digit 2. Change the column heading for that field to suit your requirements and click on the Query? field so it is checked.
- Press Ctrl + PageDown to move to the end of the field list. Enter a Gen Seq number of 3 for the PROSPECT CURRENT O/S FIELD field, change the Column Heading as required and check the Query? field.

Repeat this process for the Current S/W and Current Users fields giving them Gen Seq numbers of 4 and 5 respectively and checking the Query? field so that the fields will be included as record selection options and sort options.

Your screen should now look like the screen shown below in Figure E4.4.

S API	PX Prospect Management Syste	em				_ 🗆 ×
File C	ptions Help					,
122 🤇) 🖆 📫 😪 🏍 🍇					
PROSP	ECT Edit Field/Item Generation Sec	ą & Descrip	otive			? ✓ ×
Gen	Column	Query D	Field	Field		
Seq	Headings	2 1	Format	Name		
	Chq	=	User Cha	PROSPECT	CHANGED	ву
	Ву					
						- 1
3	o/s		X(8), Tbl	PROSPECT	CURRENT	0/5
4		🗹 :	X(20)	PROSPECT	CURRENT	SW
	current Sortware					
5	Curr	<u> </u>	9(5)	PROSPECT	CURRENT	USERS
	Users	- 11				
	Clear All 'Gen Seq' Fields			Fiel	ld Count-	- 27
				r 1e.		2
				U01	DMO 00	Chg

Figure E4.4 – Completed Edit Field/Item Generation Seq & Descriptive Screen

- Press ENTER to save your changes. Then press Ctrl + PageUp to move back to the beginning of the field list where you will see the fields listed for which you have entered a Gen Seq value.
- > Press ENTER to return to the Generate 'Standard' Output Process screen.
- Press ENTER to generate the processes for the report. When the processes for the report have been generated APPX returns you to the Toolbox menu.
- > Press **ESC** to exit the **Toolbox** menu.
- > Press **ESC** to exit the **Utilities** menu.

4.2 Reviewing the Report JOB Which Was Generated

Having generated the report, you could now run the report. But, you first decide to take a look at the design of the JOB process and the other related processes that were created by the report generation utility.

- > From the APPX Application Design menu, select the Process Management option.
- From the Process Management menu select Job. All of the jobs in the DMO application including the job process for the report that you just generated, PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS, are now displayed on the Job Processes screen.
- Select the PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS job and press ENTER to display the job steps for that job (*Figure E4.5*). Job steps are also referred to as Automatic Child Processes in APPX.

👷 AP	PX Pro	spect	Management S	ystem		_ 🗆 ×
File (Options	Proce	ess Help			
120	8 2	<u>1</u>	a Ka Ka			
Lab Dr						2 2 2
JUD PI	ucesses					
Pro	cess N:	ame-	PROSPECT SYS	TEM INFO DETAILS		
Aut	omatic	Chil	d Processes			
Seq	Chl		Process	Process	Sep	Options
No	ID	App	Туре	Name	Tsk?	T R AA CC UQ
100		DMO	QUERY 🗾	PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS		
200			INPUT	DISPOSITION		
300		DMO	OUTPUT	PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS		UQ
Тс	olbox	l в	Aules Ac	d'I Attributes Child Constraint	s 1	Use Query
		J	<u> </u>			
				UO1		DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.5 – Job Steps for Generated Report Job

The first job step runs a QUERY process. You decide that you would like to view the design of this Query process, and, having noted that this job step is the currently selected Automatic Child Process record, you use Option 93 to directly access Query Processes design. Query Processes design is run and the PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS query process is displayed in Inquire mode as shown in *Figure E4.6* below. Remember, you can use this convenient "drill down" capability anywhere within application design to directly access child processes.

The first screen of the Query Process (*Figure E4.6*) shows that the **PCF** (Process Control File) is the **PROSPECT** file as you specified when generating the report.

Notice that the **Display Sort?** field is checked. This means that a **Sort Order** screen will be displayed to the user at runtime. There may be reports that you design or generate where you do not want to allow the user to see or edit the report sort order and, in such circumstances, you would simply set the **Display Sort?** field to blank.

APPX Prospect Management Sys	tem	_ _ ×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help		
🖆 😣 🕍 📫 🖼 🏧 🍇		
Query Processes 1		<u>? ⊻ ×</u>
	PCF Display	Options
Process Name	App File Sort?	T R AA ES DS SO GT
PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS	DMO PROSPECT	ES SO
Toolbox Add' Attributes	Enduser Selections	Sort Order
Rules	Designer Selections	Grand Totals
		DMO 00 Inq

Figure E4.6 – Query Process

You notice that the letters, "ES", are displayed under the Options heading which indicates that the Query Process includes Enduser Selections. Enduser Selection records have been created for the fields for which you specified a Gen Seq value and checked the Query? field when generating the job. Click on the Enduser Selections button to view the Enduser Selections. The five fields that you selected during the setup process are displayed as selections as shown in *Figure E4.7* below.

Although the Query has been automatically generated it can be modified. You can add, change or delete any of the Enduser Selections. As a default, APPX has generated the Enduser Selections with operators of GE (Greater than or Equal to) and LE (Less than or Equal to) but these can be changed to suit your requirements. Other valid operators are EQ (Equal to), NE (Not Equal to), GT (Greater Than), LT (Less Than), IN (Includes) and EX (Excludes). As a standard convention, the selection constraints specified in the Enduser Selections are 'ANDed'. However, it is possible to override this default and combine constraints with ANDs, ORs and Parentheses by editing the **Enduser Selections Expression**.

HAPPX	Pros	pect Mana	gement Syste	m								_ [×
File Optio	ons j	Process H	elp										
🖄 🙆	ča (<u>u</u> 🔁 🏹	1										
Ourse Days													T
Query Proc	:esse:	S	1									<u> </u>	
Process	Name	≘- PROSPI	ECT SYSTEM I	NFO DE	TAI	LS							
Enduse	r Se.	lections											
Sec. No.	2.00	Rield No.		0~		2.00	Field	Nomo	<u></u>	'onet.	ont	0.77	2.2
100	DMO	PROSPECT	NO	000	GE	App	rieiu	Nemie	OL (,onse,	anc	000	AA
200	DMO	PROSPECT	NO		LE								
300	DMO	PROSPECT	COMPANY NAM	IE	GE								
400	DMO	PROSPECT	COMPANY NAM	E	LE								
500	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT O/S	;	GE								
600	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT O/S	:	LE								
700	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT SW		GE								
800	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT SW		LE								
900	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT USE	RS	GE								
1000	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT USE	RS	LE								
	<u> </u>	olbox	<u>E</u> nduser S	Selection	n Exp	ressio	on	4	<u>A</u> dd'l	Attribu	ites		
											DMO 95		
									001		J DIVIO UL) inq	

Figure E4.7 – Query Process Enduser Selections

- The Add'l Attributes option allows the designer to specify for each Enduser Selections record whether or not the user can modify the operators and/or right-side field of the Enduser Selections record when running the report.
- > Press **ESC** to exit the **Enduser Selections** screen.

Note that there is also a **DS** (**Designer Selections**) button at the bottom of the screen. This is where the designer would specify record selection criteria that the user should not be able to see or modify at runtime.

You notice that the letters, "SO", are showing under the Options heading which indicates that the Query definition includes Sort Order specifications. Press ENTER to access the Sort Order screen as shown in *Figure E4.8* below.

As with the End user Selections, the generated Sort Order specifications can be modified by the designer. Also, the designer can determine whether or not the Sort Order can be modified by the user at runtime. Sort Order records can be individually controlled so that, if required, some can be modifiable while others are non-modifiable.

HAPPX	Pros	pect Management System					_	
File Optio	ons ļ	<u>P</u> rocess Help						
🖄 😣	ča (<u>Å</u> Sa Ka Ka						
Query Proc	esse	s 1					?	✓×
Process	Name	- PROSPECT SYSTEM INF	ישם כ	TATLS				
11000000	Notin			14110				
Sort O	rder							
				Range-Start/	Rng-End/	Lat	Srt	
Seq No	Арр	Field Name	Occ	Subheading	SubTotal	Lvl?	Ordr	T AA
100	DMO	PROSPECT NO		NO	NONE		+	
200	DMO	PROSPECT COMPANY NAME		NO	NONE		+	
300	DMO	PROSPECT CURRENT O/S		NO	NONE		+	
400	DMO	PROSPECT CURRENT S/W		NO	NONE		+	
500	DMO	PROSPECT CURRENT USERS		NO	NONE		+	
	Teelbey Add/ Attributee							
p					U01	БМО		na

Figure E4.8 – Sort Order Screen

The **Grand Total** button at the bottom of the Query Process screen allows you to specify if and where grand totals will print on your report. Setting this field to NO means that no grand totals will be printed. Setting this field to STANDARD means that grand totals will print directly following the last record or subtotal. Setting this field to NEW PAGE means that the report will skip to a new page before printing grand totals. You can also choose to make this field editable or non-editable by the user at runtime.

In addition to allowing control over the order in which records are displayed, the Sort Order screen also determines how records in the report are grouped and subtotaled. The **Range-Start/Subheading** field on the Sort Order screen allows you to specify whether or not you want a subheading printed on your report each time the value at a particular field level changes and, if so, how it should affect paging. You can choose to have no subheadings (NO), to have subheadings appear wherever the value changes (STANDARD), to skip to a new page whenever the value changes (NEW PAGE ONLY), or to skip to a new page and print subheadings whenever the value changes (NEW PAGE WITH HDG). The **Range-End/Subtotal** field on the Sort Order screen allows you to specify whether or not you want subtotals to print on your report when a field value changes and how it should affect paging. You can choose to have no subtotals (NONE), to have subtotals appear wherever a value changes (STANDARD) or to have subtotals appear on a new page when a value changes (NEW PAGE).

Click on the Add'l Attributes button while your cursor is positioned on a Sort Order record. Figure E4.9 shows the Sort Order Add'l Attributes screen that is displayed. This screen allows the designer to control whether or not the user can modify subheading or subtotal specifications at runtime or change whether the records are sorted in ascending or descending order.

APPX	Pros	pect Mana	gement S	ystem					_ [⊐ ×
File Optic	ons j	<u>P</u> rocess H	elp							
🖄 🔕	ča (<u>1</u> 4 Sa Ka	極							
Query Proc	esse:	s	1						?	\checkmark ×
Process	Nam		rem svsmi	RM TNF(O DETATIS					
FLOCESS	Netto	- FROSFI	LCI 2121	SIA TIME	Add'l Attributes			?	/IXI	
					Sort on Thi	s Field	Required?			
	-									
Seq No	App	Field Nam	me		Subheading	NO		Edit?		
	DMO	PROSPECT	NO		Subtotal	NONE		Edit?		
200	DMO	PROSPECT	COMPANY	NAME	Sort Order	+		Edit?	V	
300	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT	0/5						
400	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT	s/W					1	
500	DMO	PROSPECT	CURRENT	USERS	NO		NONE	+	•	
	_									a.
							1001	101010-00		Ч

Figure E4.9 – Sort Order Additional Attributes

- > Press **ESC** to exit the **Add'l Attributes** screen.
- > Press ESC to exit the Sort Order screen.
- The next step in the PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS job is the DISPOSITION process. The Disposition screen allows a user to specify where and how your report will print at runtime. You will look at the Disposition in some detail when you run the report. Note that the Application ID of the Disposition invoked in your job is "---". This indicates that the Disposition is an internal or predefined APPX process. Although you cannot edit the layout of a predefined process, you can use predefined fields to change the values of the fields displayed on the disposition screen. And, of course, you can design your own custom disposition processes. In addition, a standard feature of APPX is the ability to allow users to customize disposition settings at runtime and save them for later re-use.
- The final step in the job is the OUTPUT, which defines the layout of the report that will be printed to the screen or sent to a printer. Select the OUTPUT job step and then use Option 94 to go directly to Output Processes design in Change Mode.

In output processes, as with input processes, there are different levels within the process: Process level, Frame level and Image level. At the Process level (*Figure E4.10*) you can see that the PCF for the newly generated output is PROSPECT and the Report Width is 80 columns. The Standard Page Heading (Std PgH) box is checked which means that this report will use standard APPX page headings. You can clear this box and define your own page headings, if you wish. The Standard Column Headings (Standard ColH) box, on the other hand, is not checked and you will see when you move down to the Frame level that APPX has generated a frame to define the column headings for the report. Note also that the report has automatically been assigned a print File Name of DMOL (DMO Listing). When the report is run, APPX will append a unique sequence number to the File Name, and the report will be listed in the print queue under that name and unique sequence number (or on disk if stored).

👷 APPX Prospect Management Sys	tem			_ 🗆 ×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help				
🖆 😣 🖆 📫 🖼 🏧 🍇				
				2 2 2
Output Processes T				
	PCF	Rpt Standard	Hdg Report	-Opts-
Process Name	App File	Wdth PgH ColH	Sep File Name	TRAA
PROSPECT SISTEM INFO DETAILS	DMO PROSPECT	80 💌 🗆	DMOL	
·			-1	
<u> </u>	<u>R</u> ules <u>A</u>	<u>\</u> dd'l Attributes		
		LI01		Cha
		1001		Cng

Figure E4.10 – Output Processes

> Press **ENTER** to move to the Frame level for this Output Process.

There are two frames listed (*Figure E4.11*). The first is a PAGE-START frame, which is the frame in which column headings are defined. The second is a RECORD frame, which contains the data items for the report.

📲 APPX Prospect Ma	nagement System						_ [×
File Options <u>P</u> rocess	Help							
12 🙆 ն 🛍 😪 🕻	5a 15á							
Output Processes	1						?	∕ × I
Process Name- PRO	SPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS							
Frames								
		Siz	e	SkipL	Col	Mult	-Optic	ns-
Frame Class Seq N	Descriptive	Row	Col	B4 Af	Pos	Img?	T R AA	AP
PAGE-START 🔽 100	Header	3	80		1			
RECORD 100	Detail	1	80		1			
P								
Toolbox Rules Add'l Attributes Automatic Processes								
				U01		DMC	00 Ch	g

Figure E4.11 -- Output Process Frame listing

- While positioned on the PAGE-START frame, press ENTER to move to the Image level and then press ENTER again to move onto the image itself. On the image, you can see how the headings have been defined. Since you accessed this process in Change Mode you can edit the headings if required.
- > Press **ESC** to move back to the Image level.
- > Press **ESC** to move back to the Frame level.
- You are now positioned on the next Frame, the RECORD Frame. Press ENTER twice to move onto the actual image for the RECORD frame.

The boxes that are painted across the image (*Figure E4.12*) represent the fields that have been defined on the image. As you position your cursor over each field the field name is displayed in the bottom left corner of the screen.



<u>Figure E4.12</u> – Record Image display

- To view all fields that have been defined on your image simply press F11 and a listing will be displayed showing field names, field types and field attributes (such as whether or not the field should be right-justified, set to blank if the value it contains is zero, and so forth). Don't forget that you can use the Help key (F1) or click on the ? button in the top right of the Item Display screen to view help text for individual attribute fields. Press ESC to exit the Item Display screen and return to the image.
- If you wish to view the details for an individual item rather than for all items then you can simply double click on the field or right mouse click on the field and select Object Properties from the pop-up menu.
- This displays the field name and you can then click on the Additional Attributes button to view/change the field attributes (*Figure E4.13*). Again you can use the ? button to get detailed information on the various attributes which you can set.

APPX Prospect Management System	_ 🗆 ×
File Options Help	
🖆 😣 🚈 啦 🖼 🏍	
Edit Item	
Rield News DMO DECERCE CURRENT C/U	
	2 2 2
Characteristics- Underline? 🗖 Bold? 🗌 Invisible?	
Color Foreground Background	•
Float Leading Spaces	
Auto-Display 1 (O=None, 1=Current Value,	
2=Lookup Value - Null If NOF,	
3=Lookup Value - '?' If NOF)	
Display Size- Rows Cols Auto Hash Total?	
U01 C	DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.13 – Field Additional Attributes

- > Press **ESC** to exit the **Additional Attributes** screen.
- > Press ESC to exit the Edit Item screen and return to the image.
- Press ESC three times to exit the Output process and return to the Automatic Child Processes screen for the report Job.

4.3 Running the Report Which Was Generated

Having satisfied your curiosity regarding design of the report which was generated, you now decide to run the Job and see what results are produced. You use **Option 99** to pop-up the screen to Invoke a Process and press **ENTER** to continue.

	Prospect Manag	ement System	_ 🗆 ×
File Opti	ions <u>P</u> rocess He	lp	
🖄 😣	🏝 🤷 🗞 🏷	1	
Job Proce	esses		? V X
Proces	ss Name- PROSP	ECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS	
		<u>گ</u>	
	Invoke a Process	? 🗸 🗙	
Seq	App/Ver	DMO 00 # prospect Management System	SepOptions
No	Database ID	DMO 🖴 Dazzle Marketing Operations	Tsk? T R AA CC UQ
100	Process Type	J0B 🔽 👪	
300	Process Name	PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO DETAILS	UQ
		Trace	
Toolb	rox <u>R</u> ules	Add'l Attributes Child Constraints	Use Query
		U01	DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.14 – Invoke a Process Screen

- The first screen that is presented is the Record Selection screen (*Figure E4.15*) where you can specify which records to include in the report. You can limit your record selection by Prospect Number, Company Name, Current Operating System, Current Software and Current Number of Users. You can limit your selection to ranges of any of the above and can change the operators to suit your requirements. Should you wish to specify a particular record then you can use the F2 key to scan the Prospect file when your cursor is positioned on the Field Name/Constant field to the right of the operator for either the Prospect No or Company Name (since both of these fields are keys to the PROSPECT file). Note that the Current O/S field has a button to the right, which you can use to select a valid operating system. The Copy button at the bottom of the Record Selection screen allows you to copy current selection criteria (and modify them). Note that using the Copy option only changes the selection criteria.
- > For the purposes of testing the report, leave all fields blank so all records are selected.

👷 AP	PX Prospect Management Syste	em	_ 🗆 ×
File (Options <u>P</u> rocess Help		
1	8 👛 📫 🖼 🏧 🏧		
Recor	I Selection (PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO D	DETAILS)	? ⊻ ×
Seq	Field Name	Occ Field Name or Constan	t Occ
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	Prospect Number Prospect Number Company Name Company Name Current O/S Current O/S Current S/W Current S/W Current Users Current Users	GE V LE V GE V GE V LE V GE V LE V LE V LE V LE V LE V	
	Selection Expression	Value/Blank <u>C</u> opy	

Figure E4.15 – Record Selection Screen

Press ENTER to continue.

The Sort Order screen is now displayed, enabling you to specify the subheadings, subtotals and grand totals that you require as well as whether you want the resulting report to display the records in ascending or descending order. Change the sort levels so the report is sorted first by Current O/S and then by prospect no, company name, etc. To do this you can either use the Clear Sort Levels button to remove the existing sort level numbers and then type in

the required ones or you can simply type over the existing numbers. Use the **Start/Subheading field to select a subheading of type Standard**. Press **ENTER** once you have made these changes and the screen will be redisplayed so it looks like that shown in *Figure E4.16* below.

B APP	X Prospect Management	t System		_ D ×
File Op	otions <u>P</u> rocess Help			
🖄 😣) 🖆 📫 🔁 🏠 🆄			
Sort Ord	Ier (PROSPECT SYSTEM INFO I	DETAILS)		? ⊻×
Gaut				at
Level	Field Name	Occ	Subheading	Subtotal Order
1 2 3 4 5	Prospect Number Company Name Current O/S Current S/W Current Users		NO NO NO NO	NO + NO +
	<u>C</u> lear Sort Levels		Grand Totals	STANDARD
			U0	1 DMO DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.16 – Modified Sort Order screen

Press ENTER to continue.

- The Disposition screen is the next screen to be displayed (*Figure E4.17*). The Disposition screen allows you to specify where and how your report will print. Check the 'Print on Screen?' box so your report will be displayed on your screen when it runs. If you check the 'Print Hard Copy?' box then your report will be sent to the printer specified in Printer ID (which of course you can change simply by clicking on the binoculars icon and selecting an alternative printer). You can add your own subheading text to the final report by entering the required text in the Report Subheading field. Additionally, you can change the Form on which your report prints, the Number of Copies and you can even select a different disposition simply by using the 'Select Disposition' button. The Disposition screen is also where you would specify that you want to save a report to disk so it can be printed later, transferred to another machine, viewed or manipulated by another program, and so forth.
- A particularly useful option on the disposition screen is the 'Browsable?' option, which is a standard feature of APPX. If this box is checked and you print your report on screen, then you will have a drill-down capability. What this means in the case of the Prospect System Setup Details Report is that, while you are viewing your report on the screen, you will be able to position your cursor on any prospect, press Option 33 (`33) and APPX will automatically invoke the Prospect Maintenance input process thus allowing you to view the full details for the selected prospect.

APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help	
🖄 😂 🖾 📫 🖼 🏍 🚳	
Disposition	? × ×
<u>Report Op</u>	tions
Print On Screen? Print Hard C Print Summary Only? Record Limit Report Subheading:	opy? Browsable? Format
Printer/Queue	<u>Options</u>
Form ID FORT10 H 8 1/2" x	sktop Printer 11" Portrait 10cmi
Print Mode SPOOL Print File :	Disposition SCRATCH
Priority Print Spool	Date/Time MM/DD/CCYY hh:mm ss.th
Number of Copies 1 Notify User	When Done? 🗖 🛛 Print Banner? 🗖
Select Disposition User Define	d Fields S <u>a</u> ve Disposition
<u>Execute Now</u>	Submit to Background
	U01 DMO DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.17 – Disposition Screen

Once you have finished making your changes to the Disposition screen, click the Execute Now button (or press ENTER) to continue.

- Since you checked the Print On Screen? box the report is displayed on the screen (*Figure E4.18*). Your record groupings may differ depending on the data that you entered for each Prospect's Current System Setup information.
- When your report appears on screen you can use the **arrow buttons** at the bottom left of the screen to move around the report:
 From left to right, these buttons enable the user to move to the far left column of the report, move one screen to the left, move one column to the right, move one screen to the far right column, move to the top of the report, move up one screen, move up one line, move down one line, move down one screen and move to the end of the report.

👷 APPX Prospect Management System 📃 🗖 🗙						
File Option	File Options <u>P</u> rocess Help					
🙀 🛛 🕴	a nà 9a Ka Ka					
Page 1 of 1	Page 1 of 1 Prospect Current System Information Details Print? N					
	Parala Manhatian Germatiana					
07/12/20	Dazzie Market D1 09:54 16 10	ing opera	ICTOU2	IIO1 Page· 1		
01/12/20	Prosnect Current Syst	em Inform	ation Details	oorrage. r		
Prospect		Current		Curr		
Number	Company Name	o/s	Current S/W	Users		
2	Trip Trailer Rental	IBM-AIX	SAP	50		
3	General Electric UK	IBM-AIX	APPX	100		
4	Greenbelt Software, Inc.	LINUX	APPX	3		
5	Internet Services, Inc	HP/UX	Oracle	50		
20	Powell Research Associates	MAC		1		
21	21 Jump Street	WIN98	APPX	1		
32	Spectra Computer Services	WINNT	Quickbooks	4		
38	Thomas Maps, Inc.	WIN2K	Peachtree	2		
39	Madalyn's Machine Shop	as/400	Lotus	2		
lle i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i						
18. L. L.						
		<u> </u>	rint?			
Press HELP	To View Display Options		j U01 j DN	/IO DMO 00 Add		

Figure E4.18 – Report On-Screen Display

- Also, you can use the binoculars icon at the bottom of your screen to Search your report for a particular value or string or to move to a specific page in the report.
- While the report is displayed on your screen, you can choose to print a hard copy even though you did not check the 'Print Hard Copy?' box on the disposition screen. You do so simply by checking the 'Print?' box at the bottom of the report. Conversely, if you had checked the 'Print Hard Copy?' on the disposition screen but decided when you viewed the report on the screen that you did not actually want to print it, then you could clear the 'Print?' box while your report was displayed on the screen and it would not print.
- Once you have viewed the report to your satisfaction, click the Close button, press ESC or F8, or click the × button in the top right corner of the screen to Exit and return to the Job.

It is important to remember that if you have checked both the 'Print on Screen' box and the 'Print Hard Copy' box, then your report will not be printed on the selected printer until you have finished viewing it on the screen.

The report is complete, and testing was successful, so now you need to make it available to the users at runtime. You will add it as an option on the Prospects File Maintenance screen.

- > Press **ESC** to exit the job step listing.
- > Press **ESC** to return to the Process Management Menu.

4.4 Add the Report to an Existing Process

- > On the Process Management Menu select Input.
- Scroll through the Input Process listing and select the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE process (use PageDown/PageUp or the hidden scroll bar which will appear as you move your mouse pointer to the right column of the screen).
- > Press **ENTER** to move to the Frame level.
- > Press **ENTER** to move to the Image level.
- > Click on the **Optional Processes** button and the list of optional processes is displayed.
- Click on the button (or press the F9 key) to move into Add Mode so you can add a new optional process. Remember how you added an Optional Process for Current System Setup? This will be the same procedure except that you will not be adding a button on the image; rather, you will put the option on the Toolbar.
- The option number that defaults is 99, which is the next sequential number after the highest option number presently defined. Accept this default and enter a Process Type of JOB and a Process Name of PROSPECT SYSTEM SETUP DETAILS.
- Now click on the GUI Attributes button. GUI Attributes allow you to specify that you want the new option to appear on the Toolbar rather than being defined as a button on the image.
- > The Menu/Toolbar Properties screen is displayed (Figure E4.19).
- Enter a Label for the option and a Shortcut of Y. Enter Audit as the Group, placing this process with the other listing process already defined.
- > Check both the **Pull down?** and **Right Click?** boxes to indicate that this option should be shown on both.
- Move to the **Toolbar Options** and **check the Show On:** box; then enter a **Tooltip** for the option.
- Move to the **Resources** section where you will specify the icon that will be assigned to this toolbar option. Since this is a report, specify **PRINTER** as the resource.

APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Help	
🖆 🥝 🖆 📫 🖼 🏧 🏧	
Menu / Toolbar Properties	? ✓ ×
Pulldown / Right-Click Menu Options	
Label: Prospect Current System Info Report	Shortcut: 🛛
Group: Audit Show on:	Pulldown? Right-Click?
Icon Loc: Text Color:	Background:
Font: Style:	Scale:
Toolbar Options Show on: 🗹 Tooltip: Print Current System Info Report	
Shared Options:	
Separators: 2 Before? 2 After? Ot	her: 🛛 Enabled? 🛛 🤶 Invisible?
Name: Resources: PRINTER	
	Save Cancel
	U01 DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.19 – Menu/Toolbar Properties screen

- Click on the Save button or press ENTER to save the option properties. APPX returns you to the Optional Processes screen.
- Press ENTER to save the record.
- Press ESC to exit Optional Processes.
- Use Option 99 (``99) to run the Prospect File Maintenance process. Select a record and the new optional process is now an available option on the Toolbar (*Figure E4.20*). To invoke the process, click on the Printer icon that has the appropriate tooltip.

APPX Prospect Management System	
File Options Actions Audit Help	
🖆 🛛 🖆 🖄 🕾 🕾 🖄 👬 🎦 🌾 🐠	
Ver Prospects	Print Current System Info Report
- Drosport Namo/Address	Primary Contact Information
Prospect Name Auditess	Title Mr
Company Name 21 Jump Street	First John
Division	Last Levine
43 Buffalo Place	Position President
Winnipeg MB R3J 1R2	Telephone 304-452-9852
Address	Fax 304-452-9855
	Web www.21jumpst.com
	L
Prospect Demographic Information	
#Employees 52 #Locations 3	Industry Media
* Employees joz ** Eucations jo	
Related Information	
Salesrep Anthony Webber 🖬 Contacts 🗌	Act <u>i</u> vities 🌠 Sales Opport.
Next Record Urrent System Inf	o <u>S</u> ave <u>C</u> ancel
	U01 DMO DMO 00 Chg

Figure E4.20 – New option on Toolbar

- Once you are satisfied that your new optional process is working as expected, click on the Cancel button to exit the currently selected record followed by Close to exit the Prospect File Maintenance process.
- > You are returned to Application Design for the PROSPECT FILE MAINTENANCE process.

Conclusion – Application Design Demo

To summarize...

With minimal knowledge of APPX and the DMO application, you have:

- Changed the size of a field and restructured the existing data to match;
- Added three new fields to a file and restructured the existing data to match;
- Designed an input process that allows the user to record information in the new fields;
- Attached that process as an optional child to the existing Prospect Maintenance input process;
- Designed a new report that prints the newly added fields, and includes a variety of selection and sorting criteria so the user can group the report in many different ways;
- Attached the new report job as an optional child to the Prospect Maintenance input process.

All of this was done without writing a single line of procedural code. This is not to say that you will never need to write procedural code to supplement the specification-based design of an application. In fact, APPX includes a very powerful Integrated Language Facility for enter and editing command in event points. APPX also includes a very powerful interactive debug facility for testing and debugging procedural code within event points. But, these are topic for another time. Rest assured that APPX is a fully integrated design environment with all the capabilities that you need to develop full-featured, business applications.

Thank you for taking the time to explore APPX's Application Design capabilities.